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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”),
| am pleased to present the 2018 full year results to the
shareholders of Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, and, including subsidiaries, the “Group”, “we" or
“us”).

2018 has been a more volatile year since the financial crisis.
Although the US economy saw growth, the Federal Reserve
continued to raise interest rates, and the appreciation of the
US dollar resulted in depreciation of the Renminbi and other
currencies. The Sino-US trade war continued, the Chinese and
European economies markedly slowed, and the United Kingdom
failed to resolve its Brexit issues, creating a cloud over the global
economy.

China’s corrugated packaging industry was in a precarious
state in 2018. The Chinese government measures to eliminate
outdated capacity had seen results, but the restrictions on
wastepaper imports and stricter requirements on its import
quality substantially pushed up prices on imported wastepaper.
Domestic wastepaper prices had jumped on the back of the rise
in local demand and a lack of supply, putting pressure on our
industry, and some players even went out of business.

The Chinese government measures to restrict wastepaper
imports raised the supply of wastepaper in overseas markets and
pushed down the prices for wastepaper overseas. As overseas
containerboard makers saw lower manufacturing costs, their
containerboard prices were attractive compared to domestic
supplies, and some domestic enterprises sourced instead
from overseas suppliers. This resulted in a decline in domestic
containerboard demand and affected the domestic sales.

Industry players are moving towards a new business model of
seeking appropriate overseas locations for new facilities or to
refurbish production lines to turn wastepaper first into pulp for
subsequent import into China for making containerboard, in order
to maintain a secure supply of raw materials. This would shift
some of the production process overseas and change the course
of development of the corrugated packaging industry in China.

The Renminbi exchange rate appreciating slightly in the first half
of 2018 but receding steeply from mid-June onwards had had
a negative impact on the corrugated packaging industry. This is
because most industry players focus on domestic sales settled
in Renminbi, but raw materials sourced overseas are usually
settled in US dollars or other currencies. Thus, fluctuations in
the Renminbi exchange rate create certain pressure on industry
players.
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As a result of the said factors, the Group's results in 2018
declined sharply, with the Group's revenue declining sharply but
cost of sales rising at the same time. Fortunately, the Group
remains focusing on corrugated packaging products with shorter
production cycles, and maintains a quality customer base. The
Group has next to no bad debts and a net gearing ratio of only
0.1%, and still maintains a very healthy financial situation.

Looking ahead to 2019, we expect global trade and the global
economy to slow, and the Chinese economy to potentially be
impacted by the Sino-US trade war. That said, we expect the
Chinese government to launch new policies and measures to
offset such impact, such as the recent measures to reduce
taxes and to encourage banks to lend to small and medium
sized enterprises and reduce funding costs. Such policies should
help Chinese economic growth and drive market demand for
corrugated packaging.

The Group will continue to improve our production process and
research into ways to reduce wastage, to control expenses to
combat the pressure of rising operating costs, and to provide
high quality corrugated packaging products to our customers.
We will strive to grasp the opportunities of our vertically
integrated business model, in order to deliver sustainable long-
term growth in earnings for the Group.

Last but not least, | would like to thank the management team
and our staff for their dedication and cooperation against various
challenges and issues, and to thank our customers, suppliers,
bankers and investors for their long-standing support. We wiill
continue to strive for better returns for our shareholders.

Hui Sum Ping
Chairman
27th March, 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Corrugated packaging demand fell slightly in 2018 while market
supply was in abundance. Although the Group’s average selling
price actually rose in the year, the shortage in raw materials
resulted in a 10% fall in sales volume and a 6.5% fall in revenue.
Domestic and export sales accounted for 80% and 20% of total
sales, respectively. In the first half, revenue fell by 7% year on
year compared to 2017, while second half 2018 revenue was
23% higher than the first half of 2018, and declining by 6%
compared to the same half of 2017.

The Group's upstream containerboard business, producing
corrugating medium and linerboard, mainly supplies our
downstream corrugated packaging business for manufacturing
corrugated paper boards and carton boxes, and we would also
sell containerboard directly to customers depending on market
demand. The upstream and downstream businesses accounted
for 39% and 61% respectively of revenue in the year, with
upstream revenue up by 11% due to rising average selling
prices, with equipment utilization at approximately 60%; the
downstream business saw revenue decline by 15% due to lower
sales volume, with equipment utilization at approximately 50%.

The Group's sources its key raw material, wastepaper, from both
domestic and overseas markets. Costs for wastepaper rose by
more than 30% on average compared to the whole of 2017,
but the Group's tight control of costs and expenses meant that
most costs fell along with the lower sales volume achieved. Due
to the shortage in raw materials and higher costs, the Group
needed more working capital for its inventory, resulting in higher
financing costs, and resulting in the 78% decline in profit for
the year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Operating results

The Group recorded a decrease in revenue of HK$99.3 million
in 2018, representing a fall of 6.5% from HK$1,523.2 million
in 2017 to HK$1,423.9 million in 2018. In view of the shortage
in raw materials for production in 2018, sales volume dropped
leading to a fall in revenue.

The average cost of wastepaper, the main raw material of the
group, rose sharply by more than 30% in 2018 compared to the
average cost in 2017. With lower sales volume but higher raw
material cost, cost of sales rose 9.5% from HK$1,117.7 million
to HK$1,223.6 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit dropped from HK$405.5 million to HK$200.2 million,
representing a 50.6% decrease. Gross profit margin fell from
26.6% to 14.1%.

The rise in other income from HK$12.6 million to HK$21.2 million
was primarily due to the refund from the Chinese Government
in 2018.

Selling and distribution costs reduced 23.7% from HK$67.1
million to HK$51.2 million. The decrease was arisen from the
fact that less finished goods were delivered to customers in
2018 as a result of the reduction in sales volume.

As there was no recommendation of directors’ performance
bonus in 2018 leading to salaries decrease, the administrative
expenses fell 38.3% from HK$149.8 million to HK$92.5 million.

Other expenses rose HK$3.7 million from HK$27.5 million to
HK$31.2 million. The increment was mainly attributed to the
rise in exchange losses which was the result of depreciation of
Renminbi in the second half of 2018.

An increase in finance costs by HK$2.7 million, from HK$2.1
million to HK$4.8 million, was owing to higher average interest
rate incurred and higher financing level required during 2018.

HK$11.2 million was charged to taxation, being profits tax
amounting to HK$2.8 million and deferred tax amounting to
HK$8.4 million.

Profit for the year declined from HK$137.7 million to HK$30.5
million, representing a decrease of 77.9%. Profit margin fell from
9.0% to 2.1%.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

At 31st December, 2018, the Group's total cash and cash
equivalents were HK$219.4 million (31st December, 2017:
HK$335.5 million), mostly denominated in Renminbi. More funds
were required in 2018 to maintain a higher safety inventory level
as a result of raw material shortage and higher raw material
cost.

Total unsecured bank borrowings rose from HK$155.9 million
to HK$221.1 million. Current and non-current unsecured bank
borrowings increased HK$27.9 million and HK$37.3 million
respectively. At 31st December, 2018, net gearing ratio was
0.1%. The group recorded a net borrowing (total unsecured bank
borrowings less bank balances and cash) of HK$1.7 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

Net current assets and current ratio of the Group were HK$262.8
million (31st December, 2017: HK$299.2 million) and 1.64 (31st
December, 2017: 1.76) respectively.

The Group spent HK$146.6 million in 2018 on capital
expenditures for maintenance and technical upgrade to the
production lines and the ancillary facilities.

Debtors and creditors turnover were 45 days (2017: 37 days)
and 29 days (2017: 39 days) respectively. Inventory turnover
has been increased from 51 days to 65 days as a higher safety
inventory level was required in 2018 in view of the shortfall of
raw materials.

Contingent liabilities

The tax audits conducted by the Inland Revenue Department
(“IRD") on the Company and its subsidiaries for the years of
assessment 2004/2005 to 2012/2013 are still on-going. The IRD
had issued protective assessments for the years of assessment
2004/2005 to 2012/2013 to certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Objections were lodged against all these assessments. The
Directors believe that no additional provision for Hong Kong
profits tax is necessary at the present stage. The outcome and
impact of this matter cannot be determined with reasonable
certainty.

OUTLOOK

We expect the global economy as well as the Chinese economy
to slow, and for overall demand to decline marginally. To resolve
our current shortage in raw materials, the Group is considering
purchasing pulp overseas or to build pulp production lines
overseas, in order to reduce production costs and increase sales.
We will continue to seek more pricing power and reasonably
transfer higher operating costs to customers. Our key priorities
continue to improve production efficiency, increase sales
volume, reduce raw materials wastage and energy use, in order
to counter rising costs, and to strive to improve the Group's
profitability.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group employed a total
workforce of around 1,050 full time staff (2017: 1,100).
Competitive remuneration packages were offered to employees.
The Group may also grant share options and discretionary
bonuses to eligible employees based on the performance of the
Group and individuals.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, aged 56, is the chairman of the Board,
an executive Director of the Company and a co-founder of the
Group. Mr. Hui is responsible for the business development
and overall corporate planning of the Group. Mr. Hui has over
34 years of experience in the corrugated packaging industry in
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Mr. Hui Sum Ping is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Tai (executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Company). Mr. Hui
did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in Hong
Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, aged 52, is an executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Hui has joined the
Group since its establishment and is responsible for the strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group. Mr. Hui has
over 32 years of experience in the corrugated packaging industry
in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Ping (chairman of
the Board and executive Director of the Company). Mr. Hui did
not hold any other directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong
or overseas in the last 3 years.

Ms. Hui Yuen Li, aged 48, is an executive Director, the chief
financial officer, the company secretary and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Hui is responsible for the financial management
of the Group. Ms. Hui is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms.
Hui worked in an international accounting firm prior to joining
the Group in May 1997.

Ms. Hui obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honours in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in 1992. Ms.
Hui did not have any relationship with any Directors, substantial
shareholders and senior management of the Company. Ms. Hui
did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in Hong
Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEREE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, aged 57, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chee is a practising Certified Public Accountant
in Hong Kong and a senior partner of Chee Chan & Co., a firm
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chee had worked in two
international accounting firms in Canada and Hong Kong. Mr.
Chee is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada.

Mr. Chee obtained a Bachelor's Degree of Commerce
(Accounting) with Honours from Birmingham University
in 1984. Mr. Chee did not have any relationship with any
Directors, substantial shareholders and senior management of
the Company. Mr. Chee did not hold any other directorship in
companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Mr. Wong Chu Leung, aged 71, is an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Wong has over 34 years of experience
in enterprise management and manufacturing operation
management. Mr. Wong is a shareholder and a director of a
metal ware manufacturing company with manufacturing plant
located in the PRC.

Mr. Wong did not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the
Company. Mr. Wong did not hold any other directorship in
companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Mr. Chau Suk Ming, aged 61, is an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chau is a retired businessman with more than 15
years of experience in the corrugated packaging industry. Mr.
Chau was a shareholder and a director of a corrugated packaging
company with manufacturing plant located in the PRC.

Mr. Chau did not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the
Company. Mr. Chau did not hold any other directorship in
companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsui Yung Wai, aged 56, is the general manager of
the Group. Mr. Tsui is responsible for the supervision of
procurement, logistics and human resources of the Group. Mr.
Tsui has over 23 years of experience in corrugated packaging
industry in Hong Kong and the PRC. Prior to joining the Group
in February 2008, Mr. Tsui was a shareholder and a director of
a corrugated packaging company.

Mr. Tsui is a brother-in-law of Mr. Hui Sum Ping (chairman of
the Board and executive Director of the Company) and Mr. Hui
Sum Tai (executive Director and chief executive officer of the
Company).

Ms. Wong Yuk Kwan, aged 47, is the senior accounting and
administrative manager of the Group. Ms. Wong is responsible
for overseeing accounting operations of the Group. Ms. Wong
obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
majoring in accounting from the University of Houston -
Downtown in the United States in 1994. Ms. Wong worked in
an international accounting firm prior to joining the Group in May
2002.
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group's annual report for the year ended 31st
December, 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and enhance corporate value.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “"CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Company has in place a corporate governance framework
and has established a set of policies and procedures based on
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Such
policies and procedures provide the infrastructure for enhancing
the Board's ability to implement governance and exercise proper
oversight on business conduct and affairs of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the CG Code.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31st
December, 2018, the Company has complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for code provisions
A2 B2 andiE 33

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the Company's securities (the “Code of
Conduct”) on terms no less exacting than the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code and the Code of Conduct throughout the year
ended 31st December, 2018.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors,
three Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive

Directors as follows:

consisting of

D emsaipa

Exwg
Exgmam

EEeRRAARESTEAN BRETI=Z2HTE
ER=ZABIFATES:

Executive Directors HITEE

Hui Sum Ping Chairman E R T E

Hui Sum Tai Chief Executive Officer T RER T A2

Hui Yuen Li Chief Financial Officer, T 150 #i HEEE  RalZE
Company Secretary and Member FHWEESRIEEZEEHKE
of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee

Independent Non-executive Directors BUYHBTES

Chee Man Sang, Eric Chairman of the Audit Committee, R AE FERZTEE  HHWZEEEK
the Remuneration Committee and REZEESFE
the Nomination Committee

Wong Chu Leung Member of the Audit Committee, =k ERZEE HWZEESK
the Remuneration Committee and IBEZEEKE
the Nomination Committee

Chau Suk Ming Member of the Audit Committee, J& X ER ERZLTEE  HHWZEEEK
the Remuneration Committee and BEZEEHE

the Nomination Committee

The relationships between the Directors are disclosed under

“Management Profile” on pages 9 to 11.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

BEECRIZBRERFIENAZIERERE | #

= .

EFRRITHBAR

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are held by Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively.
The Chairman provides leadership and
the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The #%ERE -

BHEEER -—REE -

Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s business
development and daily management and operations generally.

The Board considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear and KMABERTE @ WBENEBEE O WEZBESE - It
distinctive and hence, written terms thereof are not necessary. R RELE T ZFAMEXEA2.UE » Z
This deviates from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code

which stipulates that the division of responsibilities between  E %I H °
the chairman and the chief executive officer should be clearly

established and set out in writing.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Director

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of around two years, subject to
renewal after the expiry of the current term.

The Company's Articles of Association provides that all Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The retiring Directors
shall be eligible for re-election.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Company and overseeing the Group’'s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews the
contribution required from each Director to perform his/her
responsibilities to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the
first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company's
key plant sites and meetings with senior management of the
Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development (“CPD") to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
would be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics
would be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant external training courses at
the Company's expenses.

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Company
organized two in-house briefings on updates on Listing Rules
and related matters for all Directors. In addition, relevant reading
materials including directors’ manual, legal and regulatory update
and seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors for
their reference and studying.

The record of CPD relating to Director’'s duties and regulatory
and business development that have been received by
the Directors for the year ended 31st December, 2018 are
summarized as follows:

Exg(E)
ESCREEXRRE

EEREMTHRERTNEEZRNE L UBERE
THRE ITHFAREHSESSHFELEZEMNERNE
& o

BEFETESORNERBEZAREREABEI
BMEMNEZVEEZREARAEBRLEE L RS
RAEETRARBBZERTEAAEZEERAR
EE -AAARBIEREERARAZIERE
BHREARRZSRERESH -

EER2EBENFEZIXER((BEEXRR])
BRUFMEANBLZRE ARAABEEEREAE
RAABAREELRHENEARNESTRERBREZ
BIEMEL - ARR S EAMAEEHF AR R
iz BRBEARRHN -

BHE_Z-\F+TZ A=+ —HIEFE x2AA2
REZEN TMAFHENLTRARBEEEZ
MNERA R - thoh AABEMEFRHAMEMEM
ﬂLM/\/%&EE BREZETM ZMERRE
EEAMEATEHESE -

BE_Z-/\F+-A=+—BLEE EREKZ
ﬁ%ééﬁnﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
BRWELOT

Directors Type of Training /o EE B g R
Executive Directors HITEE

Hui Sum Ping A and B =R AXB
Hui Sum Tai A and B = 7k 2= AKB
Hui Yuen Li A and B =T 150 1 AKB
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIHNTEE

Chee Man Sang, Eric A and B R AE AXB
Wong Chu Leung A and B =R AXB
Chau Suk Ming B J& B B
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
(continued)

Note:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines
and relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange's website and are available to
shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee
is set out under “Corporate Information” on page 2.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, Mr. Wong
Chu Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming. Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric
is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process,
risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness
of the internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment
of external auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee held three meetings to review, in respect
of the year ended 31st December, 2018, the interim and
annual financial results and reports and significant issues on
the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls,
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and internal audit function, appointment of external
auditor and engagement of non-audit services and relevant
scope of works.

Since the Company has not engaged its auditor to review the
financial information in its interim report, the Audit Committee
has met with the Company’s auditor once to discuss matters
arising from the audit of the Company’s annual results and other
matters the auditor may wish to raise during the year ended 31st
December, 2018. This deviates from the code provision C.3.3
of the CG Code which stipulates that the audit committee must
meet, at least twice a year, with company’s auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members, namely
Ms. Hui Yuen Li, Executive Director, Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric,
Mr. Wong Chu Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming, Independent
Non-executive Directors. Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors; and
establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or
any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met twice to review the Directors’
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, and the
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and the
remuneration of the Non-executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

Currently, the remuneration of the senior management is
attended by the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. This deviates from the code provision B.1.2 of
the CG Code which stipulates that the remuneration committee
should make recommendations to the board on company's
policy and structure for all the directors’ and senior management
remuneration.

Details of the remuneration paid to the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31st December, 2018
are set out below:

¥ B 48 7l

Remuneration band

D emsaipa

Exzee(#/)
ISR 4C P
ARl BREBEZHMEFDAERER/RTR

BEETE - WRBEEETRZTRARXEBI2ER
EFMEES AR AR EREERSREREEZH
P % R Ke 2R %ﬁi%Akﬁ%m°

BHEZ-/\E+-_A=+—HILFEE  ENS&E
BEKREZHFMRARNEDZFHBEHIIMT

Number of senior management

EREEEHE

HK$1,000,000-HK$2,000,000

1,000,000 7T £2,000,0007% 7T 2

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, namely
Ms. Hui Yuen Li, Executive Director, Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric,
Mr. Wong Chu Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming, Independent
Non-executive Directors. Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and succession planning of Directors, and
assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the
Nomination Committee would consider a number of aspects
as well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in the
Company's Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them
to the Board for adoption.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)
Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage. The particulars of the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company are set out as follows:

1 The Nomination Committee will review annually the
structure, size and composition of the Board and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

2. In reviewing and assessing the Board diversity, a number
of aspects and factors will be considered, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience.

& The Nomination Committee will discuss and where
necessary, agree on the measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board and make
recommendation to the Board for adoption.

4. The Nomination Committee will assess regularly the
diversity profile of the Board and the progress on achieving
diversity objectives, if any.

[5), The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity

Policy as appropriate and recommend revisions, if any, to
the Board for consideration and approval.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Policy
in order to (i) set out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company;
(i) ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the Company; and (iii) ensure the Board continuity and
appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship,
the following criteria should be considered:

° Character and integrity.

o Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant
to the Company’s business and corporate strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

° Independency.

o Any potential contributions the candidate can bring
to the Board.

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a director.

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company's business, succession plan, etc.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee will evaluate the
candidates based on the prescribed criteria, rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where applicable)
and recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship, as applicable.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)
Director Nomination Policy (continued)

4. For re-election of retiring director, the Nomination
Committee will review the overall contribution and
service to the Company of the retiring director and the
level of participation and performance on the Board,
determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the prescribed criteria and make recommendation
to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
director at the general meeting.

5 The Nomination Committee will review regularly the

nomination procedures and the process and criteria

adopted for selection and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement
the Company's corporate strategy and business needs.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company's corporate governance
policies and practices, training and CPD of the Directors and
the senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and Employee Written
Guidelines, and the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board, the Board
Committee meetings and the general meeting of the Company
held during the year ended 31st December, 2018 is set out in

the table below:

D emsaipa

ExcHFEeRTH

EEENEE_F-/\E+_H=+-HLFEET
ZEZERH EFZEEEHANARFABRERE

==

ZHELHEHINTR:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/E2HE

Annual

Audit Remuneration = Nomination General

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Exns Exg EnRZEE FHEEE REZEE RRBEFAE
Hui Sum Ping AT 5/5 N/A ~#EH N/A 138 H N/A 38 F Al
Hui Sum Tai AR 556 N/A T@ERB NATERB NATER 11
Hui Yuen Li A 18 #0 55 N/A TiEF 2/2 11 11
Chee Man Sang, Eric R A& 5/5 3/3 2/2 11 11
Wong Chu Leung =k 5/5 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
Chau Suk Ming' & A BR N/A T iE A N/A P iE A N/A T iE A N/A i A N/A T iE A
Hui Sum Kwok? AR 3/3 N/A 138 F N/A 138 A N/A 138 A 0/1
Yip Kwok Kwan? EEH 4/5 3/3 2/2 111 11

Mr. Chau Suk Ming was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director with effect from 1st January, 2019 and
became a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 12th January,
2019

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok resigned as an Executive Director on 15th
August, 2018

Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director, a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee and the chairman of the Nomination Committee on
12thiJanuary, 2049

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held

1 ERRAELEEZEABIUNATEST A_T—N
F-A-—HEEH YRZZE-NAF-A+ZBKA
BERZER FHMEZESRRERZEGNKE

2 ARBEEER-_Z-NAFENA+TAABRERTES

2 EEYEER_Z-NF— BT _BHEBIIENT
B ERZBERFHEZBEEKENRREREZER
=

REHESEZRI)N RBE_ZE-N\F+A=+

meetings with the Independent Non-executive Directors without
the presence of Executive Directors during the year ended 31st

December, 2018.

Independent Non-executive Directors have attended the annual
general meeting to gain and develop a balanced understanding

of the view of shareholders.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company's strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority
for implementation by key business processes and office
functions including project management, sales and leasing,
financial reporting, human resources and information technology.

All divisions/departments conduct internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business
of the Group and various aspects including key operational
and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm
that control policies are properly complied with by each division/
department.

The management, in coordination with division/department
heads, assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides
treatment plans, and monitors the risk management progress,
and has reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on all
findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31st December,
2018.

The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing

independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(continued)

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as
the management report, reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, for the year ended 31st December, 2018,
and considered that such systems are effective and adequate.
The annual review also covered the financial reporting and
internal audit function and staff qualifications, experiences and
relevant resources.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st
December, 2018.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the "“Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 64 to 69.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration payable/paid to the external
auditor of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31st
December, 2018 is set out below:

Service Category

D emsaipa

BEREERAREREE)

i% EERZRBENXKBT AUKSEEHER

CBRABECE - \FtZA=ZT-RIEEEZRA
ﬁ“@&ﬁ%? HEBEYR  EERARE
7)) BRRZHEERR RS - FEBRE INREH
BRBRAETHBE  AREIER LB RIA
BHEIR
EEFHUYBHRERZERE
EEEREREARABE_ZTN\F+_H="1—
BIEFERBHRRZEME -
EFUTHBEMNERTBERZSRARLHEAR

A ERERNERNBERRRZERHHIBENR

ARRBIGBMEMLEREBRE BT 2B
BH R EOAE69R [ B MM WA R -

o B B 2 % B
BBEE—T-N\F+-A=+-BLEEZELRY

NRIFBERBAOARARIIEXBEMEE TR
BT ZEN/ERNFHMOWEINMAT

Fees Payable/Paid

AR 3% 38 51 BN ENER
HK$

BT

Audit Services Bz R 1,560,000
Non-audit Services EEZ RS 145,000
1,705,000
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels.

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Under Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company may at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company, to require the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the
shareholders of the Company to put forward proposals at
general meetings of the Company under the Company’'s Articles
of Association and the Cayman Islands Companies Law.
Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meeting may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company are published on the
Company's website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Workshops E, F and H, 22nd Floor

Superluck Industrial Centre (Phase 2)

No. 57 Sha Tsui Road and

Nos. 30—-38 Tai Chung Road, Tsuen Wan

New Territories

Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Chief Executive Officer/
Company Secretary)

Fax: (852) 2414 5508

Email: hopfung@hopfunggroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group's business performance and
strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings.

The Chairman of the Board, all the Independent Non-executive
Directors, and the chairmen of all Board committees (or their
delegates) will make themselves available at the annual general
meetings to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, there was no
significant change in the Company's constitutional documents
and these documents are available on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to code
provision E.1.5 of the CG Code which aims at setting out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in
relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company as
follows:

o In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its
working capital requirements and future growth as well as
its shareholder value.

o The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio.

o The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject
to the Articles of Association of the Company and all
applicable laws and regulations and the factors set out
below.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Dividend Policy (continued)

The Board shall also take into account the following
factors of the Group when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends:

financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

capital requirements and expenditure plans;
interests of shareholders;

any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.

OO O O @O UOEO=50)

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company
and the Group and the conditions and factors as set out
above, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the
Board for a financial year or period:

interim dividend;

final dividend;

special dividend; and

any distribution of net profits that the Board may
deem appropriate.

(OF* (oMo} IHe)

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert

to the Company in accordance with the Company's
Articles of Association.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE #H#ERERKSE

SCOPE

The reporting period for this Environmental, Social and
Governance report of the Group is from 1st January,
2018 to 31st December, 2018. It includes the operations
of the Hong Kong Office (“Hong Kong Office”) and
the factory and office of Green Forest (QingXin) Paper
Industrial Limited (the “Qingyuan Factory”) of the Group.
The business of the Qingyuan Factory includes production
and selling of containerboard (corrugating medium and
linerboard) and corrugated packaging products (corrugated
paper boards and carton boxes). This report is prepared
in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company's annual general meeting and other general
meetings have provided an effective platform for the
Board of Directors and shareholders to exchange insights.
Apart from general meetings, in order to maintain a close
relationship with the stakeholders, such as clients and
suppliers, the Company would seek the opinions and
understand the needs of the stakeholders through visits,
telephone conferences, e-mails, follow-ups from customer
service, questionnaires and other ways on a regular basis.
The Group's overall performance would also be reported
to the investors through this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE

3.1 Environment

The Group endeavors to minimize energy
consumption through its operation, reduce
greenhouse gas emissions and waste emission in
order to minimize its impact on the environment.
The Group strengthens its management in energy
conservation and emission reduction and infiltrated
such practices into its various operation.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. RE HEREARXRR(E)
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.1 Environment (continued) 31 BIR(E)
3.1.1 Emissions 3.1.1 #HKY
Non-Hazardous Waste Minimization ML EZEEY

Minimizing waste generation from its source
and, reusing and recycling waste before
disposal are the principles addressed by the
Group’s waste management policy.

As for waste control, in order to minimize
environmental impact, the Group devotes
itself to reducing waste. The Qingyuan
factory has established a set of fixed control
procedures for wastes, and has required each
department to assort wastes for collection
and store any wastes generated. The recycled
wastes including scrap metal, scrap pallets,
scrap powder bag and waste plastic barrel
are collected and reprocessed by qualified
licensed collectors. In addition, the factory has
collected coal ash from boilers, providing it to
cement and brick factories as raw material to
reduce non-hazardous wastes.

Hazardous Waste Minimization

In dealing with hazardous wastes, monitoring
of the use of chemicals is of utmost
importance to the Group. The Qingyuan
factory has established a set of monitoring
procedures for the use of hazardous
chemicals. The purchase of hazardous
chemicals should be based on the actual
needs of production orders. They should be
delivered in batches to prevent over-buying,
which will lead to backlogs of inventory.
Therefore, the number of purchases of
hazardous chemicals was reduced by 15%
compared to last year.

The Group has strictly implemented the
“Cleaner Production Promotion Law"” of the
People’'s Republic of China and the relevant
provisions which increase the efficiency of the
utilization rate of resources, reduce and avoid
the generation of pollutants and protect and
improve the environment. In the procurement
of raw materials, non-toxic, harmless and
environmentally friendly materials should
be selected to minimize the generation of
hazardous waste.
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3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1

Environment (continued)

3.1.1 Emissions (continued)

The Group has demonstrated the following
results in the reporting period through the
implementation of the aforementioned policies
and measures for waste reduction:

3.

BRE #HERERRR(E)

31 BIE(E)

3.1.1 HHY(E)
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Figure | b
Total Annual Emissions (tonnes)
FEHABEmE(HE)
Types of Wastes BEYESR 2017
Hazardous Waste BERBREY 3 558
Non-hazardous Waste mEREZEY 347 1,502
Waste Intensity per Employee
(tonnes/person)
FTHEBNEEMES
BEYRE W, A)
Type of Waste BEEYES 2017
Hazardous Waste BEEREZEY 0.01 0.94
Non-hazardous Waste mEREZEY) 0.59 2.52
Reduction in Atmospheric Emissions WP THIKY

The main source of gas emissions for
the Group comes from the boilers which
mainly consist of soot, sulfur dioxide and
nitrogen oxide. In the meantime, the Group
utilized a variety of technologies to control
the gas emissions: exhaust gas from boiler
combustion is passed to the Wet Flue Gas
Spray Tower for magnesium desulfurization
to minimize the sulfur dioxide in the flue gas;
SNCR denitrification technology is adopted to
minimize nitrogen oxide; and the soot from
flue gas is minimized through bag filters.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE HEREARR(E)

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.1 Environment (continued) 31 BIE(E)

3.1.1 #HHY(E)

3.1.1 Emissions (continued)

Reduction in Atmospheric Emissions
(continued)

Through these measures, the Group ensures
that atmospheric emission controls meet the
country’'s emissions requirements.

Reduction Emission of Greenhouse Gases
(“GHG")

Reduction of Business Trip

The Group understands that business trips
increase energy consumption and lead to an
increase in GHG emissions. Consequently,
the Group actively reduces the number
of business trips in order to reduce GHG
emissions. Alternatively the group uses other
effective means of communication to reduce
GHG emissions that arise from additional
traffic: avoidance of meeting which needs
long travelling, replacement by phone and/or
video conferencing, and encouragement to
employees in using public transport.

Procurement from Local Suppliers

Under the same business conditions (e.g.
cost, quality, technology and services,
environmental and other factors), the Group
would give priority to local suppliers to reduce
delivery distance and its resulting carbon
emissions.

Control of Indoor Air Quality

Smoking is prohibited in the Qingyuan factory
and the offices to maintain good air quality.
The Hong Kong office has been equipped with
air freshening machine and ventilation system
to improve air quality.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

3. BRE -HEREARXRR(E)

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1 Environment (continued)

3.1.1

Emissions (continued)

3.1

Reduction Emission of Greenhouse Gases

(“GHG") (continued)

During the

environmental protection

reporting period,
has strictly complied with the
regulations and
no violation of environmental

the Group
relevant

protection

regulations was found. The sources and
emission volumes of GHG generated during

the period were as follows:

RE(E)

3.1.1 HHY(E)

RLBERE(EERE]) K
(%)

R EHRE - & B ERE S (R
REREZER  LEERRRKE
7 o BRI P EE AR = SR8 B ROR &
FHREWNT

Figure Il e
Amount
HE

GHG Emissions Sources BaEREHERRR m 2017
Diesel fuel consumption from & & & & /& & & i 08 2% (FH)

stationary sources (litres) 384,381 257,820
Gasoline consumption from RERER AR HEFE ()

mobile sources (litres) 25,150 25,817
Business travel by REER(AER)

passenger (km) 89,183 65,016
Coal consumption from R E B E IR K KO FE

stationary sources (tonnes) (158 ) 114,315 153,960
Diesel oil consumption from & B 7 8 & &9 45 m 08 4 (FH)

mobile sources (litres) 4,644 4,971
Electricity consumption by RERE(TRE)

facilities (kWh) 50,681 57,369
Total GHG emissions BEREHEHRAS

(tonnes carbon dioxide (B-_FtmEE

equivalent (“t CO2e”)) (W-—sEth=EE]) 182,822 235,279
GHG emission intensity THEBNEEMELRE

per employee REHBREBE

(t CO2e/person) (M-S tHmEE N) 311 394
Use of Resources 312 BEREH

The Group’s business belongs to green
industry. Thus considerable attention is paid to
environmental protection to ensure reasonable
and efficient use of energy and resources.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1

Environment (continued)

3.1.2 Use of Resources (continued)

Energy Conservation Measure

Basically, the Group is only equipped with
low-power electrical equipment with less
power consumption to reduce carbon
emission. In the procurement process of
electrical appliances, priority is given to
energy-saving products such as refrigerators
and washing machines which had grade 1
label of energy-saving logos.

Gradually all light bulbs have been replaced by
LED luminaires to reduce energy consumption.
They also reduce the generation of harmful
waste by replacing traditional luminaires
with shorter life cycle. According to the
energy saving policies, lighting devices, air-
conditioners and printers are temporarily
switched off during lunch time to preserve
energy.

Furthermore, the air-conditioning system has
been set to operate only during business
hours with temperature maintained at a
reasonable level (e.g. 25 degrees Celsius).
Energy consumption was reduced by around
12% as compared to the previous year. Apart
from facility control, energy-saving slogans
have been posted at office entrances.

Water Conservation Measure

With regard to the use of water resources, the
Group has improved its existing technology
and has carried out regular inspection to
reduce water consumption. At the same
time it formulates monitoring control
whereby abnormal water consumption will be
investigated. \Water conservation slogans are
also posted to raise employee awareness of
water conservation and to remind employees
and visitors to conserve water.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3.
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

BRE #HERERRR(E)

3.1 Environment (continued) 31 BIE(E)

312 EREH(E)

3.1.2 Use of Resources (continued)

Water Conservation Measure (continued)

In the process of manufacturing paper, lots of
wastes and useful fibers would be extracted
from waste paper. Parts of the useful
fibers would be retained in water (“White
Water"”). The Group has adopted the reuse
of White Water at the Qingyuan Factory.
After processing through the White Water
recycling system, wastewater reaching the
standards would be returned to the production
lines for use in order to minimize wastewater
generation and water consumption. Moreover,
it has also been equipped with effective
wastewater treatment technique, anaerobic
digestion. With this facility and technology, the
Group has greatly reduced water consumption
and hazardous substance in the wastewater.
The thermal power station is equipped with
cooling system so that condensed water could
be recycled for the boiler use. Technological
upgrade to the facilities has increased the rate
of reusing water and reduced the volume of
wastewater emission.

Office Resource Conservation

The Group actively promotes electronic
documentation to implement the concept of
a paperless office. Computer files are used
instead of hardcopies to reduce the use of
paper in offices. The Group also encourages
employees to adopt other recognized
management practices to avoid excessive use
of resources by the Hong Kong and Qingyuan
offices such as (1) re-usable eating utensils
instead of disposable ones, (2) using single-side
printed paper as draft paper, (3) encouraging
double-side printing, (4) collecting waste office
paper for recycling, and (5) collecting and
returning empty ink cartridges to the qualified
license suppliers for recycling. Concurrently,
those scrap paper and confidential documents
must be shredded and stored at the recycling
station, and finally passed to the qualified
license recyclers on a regular basis.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1 Environment (continued)
3.1.2 Use of Resources (continued)
During the reporting period, the key resources

consumed in the Group's operations were
summarized as follows:

R HEBRERHE

RE dHERERRR(E)

31 BIE(E)
312 BEREHE)

RBEER EEEHRRNEE
BRBAMT

Figure Il B =
Total Annual Consumption
FEHAEREER

Resources = 2017
Electricity (kWh) B (TR 50,681 57,369
Water (cubic metre) (Note 1) K (32 77 2K) (K 7%1) 2,597,587 2,099,665
Packaging materials (plastic)

(tonne) B EE (B () 19 27
Packaging materials (others)

(tonne) B E YR (H ) (1) 565 804
Figure IV g

Consumption Intensity
per employee
BUEREFHERE

Resources &R 2017
Electricity (kWh/person) (Note 2) B H (TR E /A) (M 5£2) 86.19 96.26
Water (cubic metre/person) (LT KN (K EET)

(Note 1) 4,417.66 3,522.93
Packaging materials (plastic) BEYE(BEH M A)

(tonne/person) 0.03 0.04
Packaging materials (others) B EY R (EAb)(BEA)

(tonne/person) 0.96 15815
Notes: B & -
1. A different and new measurement has been 1. RARERR - PRERE & RE

adopted by the Department of Ecology and
Environment of Guangdong Province in the
PRC during the reporting period

2 The data of electricity consumption only
refers to the volume of purchases from
outsiders. The Group mainly generates
electricity from coal (refer to figure Il)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.1

Environment (continued)

3.1.3 The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group understands the concerns of
our society on environmental issues; thus,
it has implemented the following green
manufacturing and green procurement policies:

Green Procurement Policy

In Qingyuan factory, as the main material for
production is recycled waste paper, it should
be non-toxic and non-hazardous. The Group
requires suppliers to provide a Restriction of
Hazardous Substances (ROHS) test report
annually to ensure that their products meet
the environmental protection requirement.

Green manufacturing Policy

The Group is committed to reducing its impact
on the environment and natural resources. The
Qingyuan factory has been accredited with
ISO 14001 certification for its environmental
management system, and continuously
improves its management of the environment.
Various exhausts, wastewater, solid wastes
and noises from the production sites have
been strictly controlled by government laws
and regulations.

In addition, Qingyuan factory has set up a
safety and environmental incident emergency
rescue team for safety and environmental
incident issue, and has conducted different
emergency drills. It has also established
contingency plans with corresponding
emergency preparations and responses
dealing with emergency to cope with various
urgent environmental safety incidents.
Furthermore, in delivering or storing hazardous
solid wastes, it has strictly complied with the
requirements of the “Standard for Pollution
Control on Hazardous Waste Storage”
published by the government and relevant
administrative measures on hazardous waste
transfer to prevent pollution.
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Apart from complying with the local
employment regulations, the Group has
formulated relevant employment policies to
ensure employees are treated in a fair and
reasonable manner.

Recruitment and Promotion
The Group ensures that the recruitment

process is in compliance with the legislation
and free from discrimination. All candidates

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE #HEREARARR(E)
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.1 Environment (continued) 31 RE(E)
3.1.3 The Environment and Natural Resources 313 BEREALR(E)

(continued)
Green manufacturing Policy (continued) RELEEBRE (&)
Concurrently, the Group is also equipped with FE  SEIPREEMTHEKREE
specialized facilities for wastewater treatment. R WIS TR S L YRR
And it has also established clear pollutant FEATIEXEEE  BTHAKER
treatments and operating instructions which R N A 4 R A A RD B o
monitor the facilities on real-time basis and
record the results in detail.
The Group would carry out regular inspections E B H RN E 5 R &
on the key pollution control facilities to EITERBMER - REBERXEMES
ensure its normal operation. According to BT o MB(REARAEMBIRIE
the provisions of the Law of Environmental REX) ESEHEERMNERE
Protection of the People’s Republic of China, RETTREFZENG  LERRKH
the Group makes environmental impact TTHNBEMRTE - KEEBENFRE
assessment on construction projects in ERMBATEEERTE °
the Qingyuan factory and strictly complies
with government emission regulations.
All pollutants after processing have been
discharged in standards.

3.2 Society 32 &

3.2.1 Employment 3.21 EF

BRTESTE AN ERERERIN
SETHFTHEENRBRE  RE
BEERAFAENFFSE -

HERE T

SEERBEREFNTAZERERER
BRE - - MBERBEDFEHE -
BEPREELEER Rk - #H8

have been treated equally. During recruitment, e - BxR- 500 BK - HH -
it has been stipulated to prohibit discrimination MR - BN - FER - RE R

against factors such as race, ethnicity, social
class, nation, religion, disability, gender, sexual
orientation, marital status, age, membership
in trade union or political party.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3.
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

BRE #HERERRR(E)

3.2 Society (continued) 3.2 H&E(#&)

3.2.1 Employment (continued) 321 EF(ZE)

Recruitment and Promotion (continued)

Employees would be promoted in accordance
with the Group’'s rules and regulations,
through fair and impartial performance
appraisal, to ensure equal opportunities for
promotion.

Compensation and Welfare

The Group pays compensation and welfare
to employees in strict compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including the
statutory minimum wages, legal calculation for
overtime compensation, social insurance paid
for employees, statutory holiday, paid annual
leave and paid maternal leave.

In addition, whenever compensation to the
employee at work is required, the Group
would implement in strict compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations.

Employee Benefits

Employees would be entitled to insurance,
medical benefits, share options as well as
discretionary bonus. The Group offers holiday

benefits to employees.

During the reporting period, the Group did not
make any legal violation or discrimination.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE- -HEREARAREE)
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.2 Society (continued) 3.2 H&E(#&)
3.2.1 Employment (continued) 321 ERF(E)
As of 31st December, 2018, the total W=Z NG Hetie B o E
number and distribution of employees were BBy Ry MIBERBMLT :

summarized as below:

Figure V il

Number of Employees

EEHE

Male B 476 489
Female gl 112 107
Employment Type & 18 % 7l

Full Time 28 588 596
Part Time 3 B 0 0
Age group FHA8 R

18-24 18%24 50 69
25=87 26334 207 209
35-44 365%44 166 181
45-54 45354 135 112
5156y 55364 29 243
>65 >65 1 2
Total F 588 596
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE HEREARR(E)
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.2 Society (continued) 3.2 H&E(#&)

3.2.1 Employment (continued) 321 EF(ZE)

Figure VI 7
Average Monthly Employee
Turnover Rate (%)
B EERKRE(%)
Average
¥ 18
Gender % 5l 2017
Male B 3.19 3.56
Female M 4.46 4.44
Average
FHE
Age group F e 42 Bl 2017
18-24 18&24 8.50 725
25-34 25237 4.99 5.10
35-44 35%44 2.1 2.62
45-54 45%54 1.30 1.34
55-64 55264 0.86 1.09
>65 >65 0 0
Overall Average BRYIY9E 3.43 3.72

3.2.2 Health and Safety

The Group has implemented an occupational
health and safety management system
which takes different measures to minimize
the occurrence of occupational illness and
industrial injury.

Occupational Health and Safety Policy

The Group has formulated a set of safety
production management, including first-aid
and self-help knowledge after the occurrence
of an accident. In the Qingyuan factory, it has
set up a safety team and provided three levels
of safety training on regular basis namely
Factory Level, Departmental Level and Group
Level which are led by the departmental heads
and safety officers.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE HEREARR(E)

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.2 Society (continued) 3.2 H&E(#&)

3.2.2 Health and Safety (continued) 322 BEHZZE (&)

Occupational Health and Safety Policy
(continued)

In addition, the Qingyuan Factory is equipped
with a fire engine for safety purpose. Apart
from this, it also installs CCTV in various
locations such as warehouse, materials
storage to reduce the risk from any accident.

Workplace Safety Management

The Group assesses safety risks in the
workplaces and formulated corresponding
operating rules to manage the health and
safety hazards posed to employees as
follows:

il Operating procedures are set up for all
level positions, for example, regulations
of operations management for safe work
in confined space and the procedures
for machinery to protect the safety of
employees;

23 Safety officers would regularly inspect
fire protection facilities and safety
facilities to ensure they can function
properly;

3. Protective equipment is provided to
employees such as mask, earplugs,

plastic gloves and anti-smashing shoes;

4. Emergency exits are kept clean to
prevent obstruction.
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3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.2 Society (continued)

3.2.2 Health and Safety (continued)

Employee Safety Training

The Group provides suitable training to ensure
effective implementation of operating rules
and safe operation of equipment. Moreover,
all new employees must take training in
knowledge of safety. The Qingyuan Factory
also arranges fire and emergency drills on a
regular basis to ensure employees are familiar
with procedures when dealing with accidents.

Work-life Balance Management

The Group emphasizes on employee work-life
balance and have regularly organized different
activities for employees after work. There are
recreational facilities in Qingyuan factory like
sports ground, gardens, billiard room, table
tennis room and karaoke room.

We have strictly abided by the related
safety regulations and there were no cases
of prosecution due to violation of related
occupational safety regulations during the
reporting period. Also, no work-related fatality
and loss of work hours due to work injuries
were identified.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.2 Society (continued)

3.2.3 Development and Training

Career Development Policy

The Group has established comprehensive
training system that covers factory’s rules
and regulations, product workmanship,
environmental protection and the relevant
safety training. In addition, the Group
emphasizes practical experiences and thus
arranges team leaders, group leaders or
experienced employees to guide new recruits
in their work.

During the reporting period, the total number
of employees attended training and the

3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HEBRERHE

RE dHERERRR(E)

32 #g(&)
3.2.3 BRERIE
B EEFERERE

CEEEVTREIHRSHE E
mIE  BEREREEZEEI
WS R o tih » £EEH
EE YZHEBKAREA 4AE
EASKREEMNETHE TEHIE
BHETL-

RIBEHE - 20T RS 22
K AE B 52 A 35 Bl B 48 B 2K 45T at 4n

total number of training hours provided to I
employees were summarized as follows:
Figure VII +
Total number of

trained employees

Z2mEINES R
Gender % 5l 2017
Male 54 682 715
Female % 118 101
Employee Category EEDE
Senior Management BREIRE 2 %)
Middle Management FIEE R 10 10
Supervisor *E 35 13
General Staff —RET 753 791
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3.
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

BRE #HERERRR(E)

3.2 Society (continued) 3.2 H&E(#&)

3.2.3 Development and Training (continued) 323 BRERIZH(E)

Career Development Policy (continued) B ar % ()
Figure VIII AN
Total number of training hours
completed by employees (Hours)
& & 58 B 35 31 1Y 48 B B (V)N BF)
Gender % Bl 2017
Male B 1,607 1,380
Female peglics 513 389
Employee Category EESE
Senior Management = RE R 75 83
Middle Management g E R 159 224
Supervisor FE 384 77
General Staff —RET 1,502 1,285

During the reporting period, the total number
of employees attended training was 800 and
the total number of training hours provided to
employees was 2,120. The average training
hour for each employee were around 2.65
hours.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.2 Society (continued)

3.2.4

3.2.5

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the employment
of child labour and only employs individuals
aged 18 or above. The Group also ensures no
forced labour occurs.

During the reporting period, there was no
reported case of child labour or forced labour.

Supply Chain Management
Supplier’s Code of Conduct

The Group has developed various codes of
conduct which are communicated to suppliers
of the Group, to assure product quality.
Prohibition on imported waste paper being
mixed with hazardous wastes would minimize
the impact on environment.

In addition, the Group has established a set of
code of practices in selecting suppliers. After
evaluation of factors such as product quality,
price, environmental protection and social
responsibility performance, the suppliers with
the highest performance-to-price ratio and the
best overall performance would be selected.
Besides, the Group has also established
evaluation system for evaluation beyond
commercial interest. The system evaluates
qualification of new suppliers and performance
of existing key suppliers on regular basis.
Evaluations are carried out in the form of
on-site audits and/or document reviews on
qualification and compliance.
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HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EZRERAF

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE #H#ERERKSE

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE #HBREARARR(E)
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.2 Society (continued) 3.2 H&E(#&)
3.2.5 Supply Chain Management (continued) 325 HEHEEE(Z)

As of 31st December, 2018, the geographical e SR R Bt s Hin
distribution of the Group's suppliers was as EHERMME S MIUT:
follows:
Figure IX b

Number of Suppliers

HEEHAE

Geographical location ih I8y B m 2017

PRC A 190 344

Others H A 17 28

Total ot 207 372
3.2.6 Product Responsibility 326 EmMEF

Quality Assurance Policy BEEREHE

The Group has stringent criteria in monitoring SEEERELAERRETARBENEZ

production process. The quality of semi- Ao LR MR KMV BEEZRER

finished products and finished products are o lbAN EERBRIACAER

examined. Moreover, the Group ensures RBHREEEE  URAETREGR

workers to operate carefully during the HmiE e

production process to avoid defective products

being delivered to the market.

Product Safety Policy EmZT B R

For assuring product safety, the finished BREFEMEZE  MEERLMS

products must pass through the final BB BN R KRR -

inspection and testing before releasing to the

market.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)

3.2 Society (continued)

3.2.6

3.2.7

Product Responsibility (continued)
Fair Marketing Policy

The Group's salespersons are required to
disseminate information on the recognized
competitive advantage only when promoting
the products. Negative description of
competitors is not allowed so as to avoid
misleading customers.

After-sales Service Policy

Customer service officers and salespersons
would make after-sales visits to customers
on a regular basis. The Group would obtain
comments for improvement according to
results of customer’s satisfaction survey
and would follow up after-sales issues
immediately. If there are severe product
quality issues, the Group would recall the
defective products from the market.

During the reporting year, the Group received
38 (2017: 12) complaints in relation to product
quality.

Privacy Protection of Consumer’s Information

Personal information of customers would
properly be maintained by the Group. Relevant
information has been stored at the internal
specific department. Moreover, customer
information can only be accessed by the
authorized personnel. No one is allowed to
make own copies of or store privately or get
the customer information out of the offices
without permission.

The Group has strictly abided by relevant
regulations, and no violation of product
responsibility or privacy were found during the
reporting period.

Anti-corruption
Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors has set up different
committees, such as audit committee,
nomination committee and remuneration
committee, striving to maintain high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard
shareholders rights and interests, as well as
the Group's value and accountability.
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HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EZRERAF

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE #H#ERERKSE

3. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 3. BE HEREARR(E)

GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE (continued)
3.2 Society (continued) 3.2 H&E(#&)

3.2.7 Anti-corruption (continued) 327 RE5(4#E)

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group has supervised the behavior of
operating personnel in order to safeguard
employees’ legal rights and corporate
interests. In addition, the Group welcomes
employees to report any non-compliance and
dishonest behavior. The privacy of relevant
employees who report the issues would be
protected.

Financial Auditing

The Group engages Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as the independent third-party auditor to audit
the Group’s financial accounts. This ensures
that the Group's accounts are clear and
accurate, and the interests of shareholders are
protected.

Declaration on Conflict of Interest

The Group stipulates that all employees must
declare the conflict of interests. Directors and
senior management are prohibited to transact
any securities of the Group during sensitive
periods.

Prevention of Corruption, Extortion and Fraud

The Group has established comprehensive
system for internal control and formulated
a set of strict policies, which prevent
malpractices and unethical business practices,
and also avoid the occurrence of corruption
and other fraudulent behaviours.

The Group has strictly complied with the
regulations on anti-corruption. No violations
of any provisions were found in the reporting
period.

3.2.8 Community Investment

The Group has actively participated in the
community including donating funds and
materials to charitable organizations.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31st December, 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.

A business review of the Group, with description of the principal
risks and uncertainties and the likely future development, are
set out in chairman’s statement, management discussion and
analysis on pages 4 to 8, this directors’ report on pages 51
to 63, and in notes 4, 5, 26, 29 and 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December,
2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on page 70.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years from 2014 to 2018 is set out on page 152.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment

of the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Details of the movement in the share premium and reserves
of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 72.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Chairman

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Hui Yuen Li, Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (resigned on 15th August, 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric

Mr. Wong Chu Leung

Mr. Chau Suk Ming (appointed on 1st January, 2019)
Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan (resigned on 12th January, 2019)

In accordance with Articles 86(3) and 87(1) of the Company's
Articles of Association, Ms. Hui Yuen Li, Mr. Chee Man Sang,
Eric and Mr. Chau Suk Ming shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Chau Suk Ming was appointed by the Board as a new
Independent Non-executive Director with effect from 1st
January, 2019 and he will hold directorship until 31st December,
2019. Further, each of the Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term commencing from 8th
March, 2019 to 31st March, 2021, which may be terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either

party.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from the Independent Non-
executive Directors, annual confirmations of their independence
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company considers the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in Management Profile on pages 9

Tl

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set
out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company's

share options during the year:
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Ex(#E

EECHE

ARBEERSREEEREABHNFIZENAZ
EEERE o

fE IR

ARBZBREFE ZFBRR G S MBRRM T

2202

Exercise Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Outstanding

price per at beginning during during during at end of
Category Option type Date of grant share  of the year the year the year the year the year
5l BRERE RERE BROEE FOHATHR FREH FRTE FREHE FRAERTE

(Note) HK$
Uik BT
Directors
s
Mr. Hui Sum Ping G 15.10.2018 0.435 o 7,968,000 — e 7,968,000
THRERE
Mr. Hui Sum Tai G 15.10.2018 0.435 = 7,968,000 = = 7,968,000
HRRRE
Ms. Hui Yuen Li G 15.10.2018 0.435 o 7,968,000 o e 7,968,000
AL L
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric G 15.10.2018 0.435 2 1,000,000 = i 1,000,000
MRELE
Mr. Wong Chu Leung G 15.10.2018 0.435 e 1,000,000 = = 1,000,000
BhutE
— 25,904,000 = — 25,904,000

Other employees G 15.10.2018 0.435 £ 16,736,000 o = 16,736,000
Hitfgg
Total for all categories g 42,640,000 T T 42,640,000

R A
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Note:

The vesting period of the share options granted is determined by
Directors at each time when the options are granted. Holders of share

options granted under the Company’s share option scheme may only
exercise their options during the exercisable periods as follows:

Granted under scheme

BRE(E
B
RUBREZBBRHEER TR ERERESEE A

REBEREABTERERAAETRNUTTEBITER
LB

BREERH

Option type G Maximum % of share options exercisable

GEERE ATEEREZESEDL

1:6820119 =:80:4:2020 up to 50%
&= Al #50%

10:65:2020,7:3052:202 up to 75% (to the extent not already exercised)
= Al E75% (A ARITEEAR)

116202045 80.4:2026 up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)

=& Al E100% (A M ARITEEER)

As at 31st December, 2018, the total number of new shares
which might be issued upon exercise of the options that had
been granted and remained outstanding under the scheme was
42,640,000 new shares, representing approximately 5.35% of
the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
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RoZ—\F+-A=+-B REFWEELE
0 R £ 1 B R AT A O T AR AT IR (2 8
£42,640,0008 - (5 A AR R Z AR ETRE 0
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st December, 2018, the interests and short positions of
the Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO"), as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were
as follows:

(a) Shares

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

EEREN NHBERORGEZz2EDS

RZE-NFE+_A=+—H REREARARIEZH
BRI (TEFR BRG] B2 2 REET
ZEBRMAHE  XRBELETETAETETRE S
ROGNBETAEHSARARBRAE  EFR
ARAREMBEE(ER REZ R BEBHHFEXV
Bz m  HEROGRESTEA 2R KRAE N
N7

(a) B3

Approximate

percentage
Company/ of issued
Name of associated Number and class of  share capital
Name of Director corporation Capacity securities EEBITRA
BExns APR/HBEEEE 52 HEHERER BMABED
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Beneficial owner 120,476,681 shares 15.11%
HHRTEE /NG EnEEA Long position
120,476,681H% % {2
e
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Founder of a discretionary 107,755,400 shares 13.52%
SARTERE PN trust/interest of controlled  Long position (Note 1)
corporations 107,755,400 % % 12
EREFELAS o & (faE1)
LR ER
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Interest of spouse 19,754,000 shares 2.47%
HHRTLEE Y N/NE Bz iEs Long position
19,754,000 % f& 3
e
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Beneficial owner 146,572,430 shares 18.39%
HRREE /NG ExnEEA Long position
146,572,4308% B% 17
e
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Interest of spouse 5,110,000 shares 0.64%
HRERAE iN/N] B8 2 %= Long position

95
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EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(a)

Shares (continued)

ESRKRG  HBEROREZZERE(E

(a)

w1 (&)

Approximate

percentage
Company/ of issued
Name of associated Number and class of  share capital
Name of Director corporation Capacity securities EEBTRA
Expns APR/HBEEERE 55 HHHERER BMABED
Ms. Hui Yuen Li Company Beneficial owner 80,000 shares 0.01%
ST At PiN/N] EmBEAA Long position
80,000/ & 19
HE
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric Company Beneficial owner 96,000 shares 0.01%
MRELE Vi N/NE]! EnlEEA Long position
96,000/ & 17
HE
Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan Company Interest of spouse 388,000 shares 0.04%
EEHLEE ANA A Be 18 2 1 &= Long position
388,000 % 10
HE
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Gong Ming Hop Fung Founder of a discretionary 3,000,000 non-voting 100%

FHREELE

Mr. Hui Sum Tai
HREEE

Paper Ware Factory
Limited (“Hop Fung
GM")

trust/interest of controlled
corporations/short position
of controlled corporations

APARELRBERLRE 2REFALAS

(5228

Hop Fung GM
=k YN

RErEEs/
REEBAR

Short position of a controlled
corporation
XEEEAR

56

deferred shares of
HK$1 each
Long and short
positions (Note 2)
3,000,000 § R E &
BT ERRE
iE S
HRRKE

(Mt E2)

Nil (Note 2)
& (Mt eE2)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(continued)

(a)

Shares (continued)

Notes:

The 107,755,400 shares are owned by Goldspeed Holdings
Limited (“Goldspeed”). Goldspeed is wholly owned by
Goldkeen Assets Management Limited (“Goldkeen”) and
Goldkeen is wholly owned by HSBC International Trustee
Limited ("HSBC") in its capacity as the trustee of HSP
2004 Family Trust, a discretionary trust the founder of
which is Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary objects
of which include family members of Mr. Hui Sum Ping.
Accordingly, Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be interested
in the 107,765,400 shares under the SFO.

Hop Fung GM is a subsidiary of the Company and therefore
an associated corporation of the Company under the
SFO. The entire issued share capital of Hop Fung GM is
HK$3,000,100 divided into 100 ordinary shares of HK$1
each and 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$1
each. The 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$1
each in Hop Fung GM are beneficially owned by Hop
Fung Group (HK) Limited (“Hop Fung Group HK") which
is owned as to 91.43% and 8.57% by Hop Fung Holdings
Limited (“Hop Fung Holdings (BVI)”), and Mr. Hui Sum Tai
respectively.

The issued share capital of Hop Fung Holdings (BVI) is
owned as to 61.81% and 38.19% by Mr. Hui Sum Ping and
Goldspeed respectively. Under the SFO, Mr. Hui Sum Ping
is deemed to be interested in the 3,000,000 non-voting
deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM.

Pursuant to an option deed dated 19th August, 2003,
Hop Fung Group HK and its nominee granted to Hop
Fung Group Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, an option to purchase from them such
3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop
Fung GM. Accordingly, Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to
have a short position in the underlying shares of the option
granted under the option deed pursuant to the SFO.
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(a)

&)

G

(&

5%107,755,4000% A% 15 B Goldspeed Holdings
Limited ([Goldspeed]|) # & ° Goldspeed #
Goldkeen Assets Management Limited
([Goldkeen]) 2 & # A& - 1 Goldkeen g1 HSBC
International Trustee Limited ([HSBCJ) LAHSP
2004 Family Trust2EAZ B D2 EHE ° %
ERA—BEEGT HBIZARTHRFL
R REAUHREESTRTLEZREK
8- At BEZFHFRBAERL - FRTFEE
W A5 B ¥ B 5%107,755,400 0% B 15 2 #E & o

m

SERNHENARRZHBAR @ ARIEES
HEKA - BAAR ZBEER - 62 AH
ZE BB TIRA 3,000,100/ T © 5 4100
fi% & AR B 18 T 2 & 18 Ik %.3,000,000 8% & A%
HEI1B T EREREIELER - 5%23,000,000/%
SREBIBTIZALAPHERZHELERA
EEEHEEFEB)ARAR(ELEERTEDE
=ME MALEEZEAHFIAHop Fung
Holdings Limited ([Hop Fung Holdings (BVI) /)
MErRF G EWEEI.43% K%8.57% °

Hop Fung Holdings (BVI)Z B2 17R% A% Bl R &F
#* T % & K Goldspeed # 561.81% % 38.19% °
BEBFRBEGL  FRFEEHRAE
BHE L NBH3,000,000 R EEIE TEKE
BIELER 2 o

REBRHAZZZ=F/\A+NAZHEREZ
B CEKEEAERARBABARRAIZE A
&2 "lHop Fung Group Company Limited#%
M RE AR A - DA 4% %5 B8 B3,000,000% & AR
BIATZEE R AAEREEELTR - Bt -
BEELFRAEGRL  FREFEERRAE
ERBEBREZEMBLERESR 2EH
Bz &eE -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(continued)

(b) Share options

Details of the Directors’ and their associates’ interests in
share options of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Share Options” in this report.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31st December, 2018.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31st December, 2018, the following shareholders had
interests or short positions in shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company:

ESRKRG  HBEROREZZERE(E

(b) B

EERRFZHEALRARRBRE 2 #
HBEHENARE(EAE] 5 -

BREXBBESN  R=B-N\F+-A=+—0 %
ERESZHEALBMEAARARKE AIEH)
B0 2 £ 7 AR 3 ~ 4EL B8 BR 19 S48 35 o 5 1 2 o

YL AL
KB e

FTERRRKRG  HEARORES2ER

RZBE-N\FE+-_H=+—HB  BEARAERES
R EGPEBHRFEZELMALERSITHM
EARA  THRRRARBBROIEERNDFHES

RS A R ¢

Approximate

Number of Number of percentage of
issued share issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held options held Note(s) capital
BECRT Fi HEBTRE
BEEB R 514 BB EE BRERE B = BRBEDL
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Beneficial owner/founder of a 247,986,081 7,968,000 19 32.12%
FHRFELEE discretionary trust/interest of
controlled corporations/interest of
spouse
EanBAA ZHEETEALIAS
XRrEER  RBzER
Goldspeed Beneficial owner 107,755,400 & 2 13.52%
BE&nfEEA
Goldkeen Interest of a controlled corporation 107,755,400 = 74 {:895256
Xy EEER
HSBC Trustee of discretionary trust 107,755,400 = 2: 13.52%
2REEAEXRFEA
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 151,682,430 7,968,000 8 20.03%
SRR EE EanBAA/ BEBEZER
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 12 2AB82 = 4 21.48%

AREEE EnBEAANBRBZER

58
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Notes:

i Of 255,954,081 total shares, Ms. Jian Jian Yi is directly
interested in 19,754,000 shares and is deemed to be interested
in 236,200,081 shares of the Company under the SFO as she
is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Ping, a Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

2. The entire issued share capital of Goldspeed is indirectly held
by HSBC through its 100% controlled corporation, Goldkeen
in its capacity as the trustee of HSP 2004 Family Trust, a
discretionary trust the founder of which is Mr. Hui Sum Ping
and the discretionary objects of which include family members
of Mr. Hui Sum Ping. Accordingly, each of Goldspeed, Goldkeen,
HSBC and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be interested in the
107,755,400 shares under the SFO.

8 Of 159,650,430 total shares, Ms. Leung Pui Man is directly
interested in 5,110,000 shares and is deemed to be interested
in 154,540,430 shares of the Company under the SFO as she
is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Tai, a Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

4. Of 171,227,882 shares, Ms. Wong Mui is directly interested in
750,000 shares and is deemed to be interested in 170,477,882
shares of the Company under the SFO as she is the spouse of
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been
notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in
the issued share capital of the Company as at 31st December,
2018.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company's
listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
the year ended 31st December, 2018.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate. In addition, save
as disclosed above, none of the Directors, and any of their
respective associates were granted any right to subscribe for
the securities of the Company or had exercised any such right
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the transactions set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director of the Company is or was materially interested, either
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates were
interested in any business apart from the Group’s business, that
competes or competed or are or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time
during the year ended 31st December, 2018 and up to the date
of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed
during 2018.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 167(1) of the Company's Articles of
Association, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses incurred by him or her in the execution and discharge
of his or her duties.

The Company maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance during 2018 and up to the date of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the vyear, there was no material breach of or

non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2018, the aggregate amount
of revenue attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for around 16% of the Group's revenue.

The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 55% of the
Group’s total purchases and the purchases attributable to the
Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately 26% of the
Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5%
of the Company'’s share capital) has any interest in the Group's
five largest suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group did not enter into any related party
transactions or continuing related party transactions which fall
under the definition of “Connected Transaction” or “Continuing
Connected Transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which shall oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting
to approximately HK$21,000.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors strive to maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard
shareholder interests. The corporate governance principles of
the Company emphasise the importance of a quality Board,
effective internal controls and accountability to shareholders.
The Company has met the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
throughout the year ended 31st December, 2018, except with
the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

o Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief
executive officer should be clearly established and set out
in writing.

° There are no written terms on division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Directors consider that the responsibilities of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer respectively are
clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are
not necessary.

Code Provision B.1.2

o A deviation from the code provision B.1.2 is that the
Remuneration Committee of the Company reviews
and makes recommendations to the Directors on the
remuneration packages of the Directors only but not the
senior management.

° Currently, the remuneration of the senior management
is attended by the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive

Officer of the Company.

Code Provision C.3.3

o Code provision C.3.3 stipulates that the audit committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the Company's
auditor.

° Since the Company has not engaged its auditor to review

the financial information in its interim report, the Audit
Committee has met with the Company's auditor once
a year to discuss matters arising from the audit of the
Company's annual results and other matters the auditor
may wish to raise. The Audit Committee has met with
the Company's auditor once during the year ended 31st
December, 2018.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving continuous improvement
in environmental performance and complying with the
relevant environmental protection regulations and rules. 100%
wastepaper (old containerboard cardboard) is used by the Group
for producing containerboard in the upstream business.

Environmental protection measures are implemented by the
Group to minimize the impact on the environment. Two of the
manufacturing facilities of the Group have been accredited with
the 1SO14001 certification for its environmental management
system.

The environmental, social and governance (“ESG"”) report
of the Group disclosing detailed discussion on the Group’'s
environmental policies and performance are prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide issued by the Stock Exchange. The
ESG report is disclosed in this Annual Report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company's total number of issued shares were held by the
public as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has acted as auditor of the
Company since its incorporation.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as

auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hui Sum Ping
Chairman
27th March, 2019
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set
out on pages 70 to 151, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31st December, 2018,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31st December, 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Contingent liabilities and provision of tax liabilities in
relation to the tax audits on the Group conducted by Hong
Kong Inland Revenue Department (the “IRD”)

We identified the determination of the contingent liabilities
and provision of tax liabilities in relation to the tax audits on
the Group conducted by the IRD as a key audit matter due to
significant judgements made by the Group's management.

The IRD is conducting tax audits on the Company and certain of
its subsidiaries in respect of the years of assessment 2004/2005
to 2012/2013. The Group appointed a tax representative
to respond to the IRD on its behalf and the directors have
determined the potential tax liability based on their judgement,
which may be different from the IRD’s opinion.

The Group only recognises liabilities for tax and tax-related
expense when the potential tax liabilities are probable. Since
the directors consider that whilst the tax audits are still on-
going, the IRD has issued the protective assessments for the
years of assessment from 2004/2005 to 2012/2013 to the
Group in order not to jeopardise the assessment powers of
the IRD which will be time-barred after 6 years of assessment.
The directors of the Company believe the Group is more likely
than not to successfully pursue the offshore claims and their
tax filing position, therefore it is not probable for the Group
to be required eventually to settle the potential tax liabilities.
Accordingly, the directors consider that no additional provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax in respect of the tax audits for the
years of assessment 2004/2005 to 2012/2013 was necessary
as at 31st December, 2018. However, the ultimate outcome of
the tax audits is uncertain and the potential tax liability cannot
be ascertained with certainty at the present stage.

The details in relation to the tax audits are set out in notes 4
and 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the contingent liabilities
and provision of tax liabilities in relation to the tax audits on the
Group conducted by the IRD and the sufficiency of the relevant
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements included:

o Obtaining and reviewing all relevant documents and
correspondence between the Group/authorised tax
representative of the Group and the IRD;

o Engaging our tax specialists to evaluate the
appropriateness of the management’s assessment;

o Assessing whether the accounting treatment of the tax
position is in accordance with the HKFRSs; and

o Considering the adequacy of the relevant disclosures and
provision in the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Tsang Chi Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27th March, 2019
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HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EZRERAHT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ReEakHEtEZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018

BE-F—N\F+_HA="+—HIFFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other expenses

Finance costs

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year, attributable to owners
of the Company

Other comprehensive (expense) income
for the year:

/tem that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising from

translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive (expense) income for
the year, attributable to owners of the
Company

Earnings per share
— basic

— diluted

W
Ficl-J N

EH

H Al WA

$HE M AR
TR X

H Al FA XX

R AN

754 Al 7
PSR A X

ARBEHEEAREFE
AlbE

FEHEME2ME )
W g
HZAJGEEN 0 E

BmZEA
BEBINRBZ
[E X =5

ARBEHEEAREFE
2E (A KREAR
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2018 2017
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
b= FEx FHET
5 1,423,860 1,623,210
(1,223,626) (1,117,744)
200,234 405,466
6 21,191 12,637
(51,176) (67,123)
(92,471) (149,824)
(31,228) (27,493)
7 (4,832) (2,096)
41,718 171,567
8 (11,246) (33,857)
9 30,472 137,710
(57,209) 79,717
(26,737) 217,427
HK cents HK cents
A AL 78Il

12
3.82 17.28
3.81 N/A 73 A




ANNUAL REPORT 2018 FE#H&

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A MR R

AT 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
RZFE-NFF+ZHA=4+—H

2018 2017
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E FHER FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB &EE 13 1,394,531 1,399,143
Prepaid lease payments on land use rights i f# FI4ETE (72 & B 14 21,000 22,451
1,415,531 1,421,594
Current assets REBEE
Inventories ﬁ‘b 15 258,661 157,409
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E e W R 16 174,875 178,639
Deposits and prepayments 2% RIENK 20,363 19,355
Prepaid lease payments on land use rights + b {&f fFA#E 78~ & 318 14 549 558
Bank balances and cash RITEBEE S 17 219,398 335,541
673,846 691,502
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade, bills and other payables B5 ZREREMER
A 18 232,030 241,186
Taxation payable FE A 7R 1E 12,666 12,672
Unsecured bank borrowings EIEHIRITEE 19 166,333 138,448
411,029 392,306
Net current assets RBEEFE 262,817 299,196
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERABER 1,678,348 1,720,790
Capital and reserves BARG#EE
Share capital % < 20 79,682 79,682
Reserves & 1,470,540 1,658,631
Total equity, attributable to owners ZARATHEEAEG
of the Company DB 1,550,222 1,638,313
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Unsecured bank borrowings I IRITIEE 19 54,722 17,489
Deferred taxation IEE B IR 21 73,404 64,988
128,126 82,477
1,678,348 1,720,790
The consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 15617 were REJOEBIBE 2K AR B REER T —NLF= A

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on =1+ EI RE %@? NI ?’V‘% ]IEEI—F@J%%
27th March, 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: RE%

HUI SUM TAI #F#H& %=
DIRECTOR £ %

HUI SUM PING # # T
DIRECTOR £ %
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HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EiZERERAH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
BE2=—F— ) \F+=ZA=+—HIFE

Share
Share Share Special Translation options  Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
Bx ROEE BHREE ERRE BREMGRE RKRENEB oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET TERT FAET FAET FTERT FAET
(note)
(H3E)
At 1st January, 2017 RZE—tF—A—H 79,682 481,258 (107,444) (31,720) — 1,034,969 1,456,745
Profit for the year EE — — — — — 137,710 137,710
Exchange differences arising from MEBINEBZERER
translation of foreign operations — — — 79,717 — — 79,717
Total comprehensive income FEzEKERE
for the year — — — 79,717 — 137,710 217,427
2016 special and final dividends paid Eff ZZ—NFHHI %
KBRS — — — - — (35,869)  (35,859)
At 31st December, 2017 A S e
=+—H 79,682 481,258 (107,444) 47,997 — 1,136,820 1,638,313
Profit for the year FE A — — — — — 30,472 30,472
Exchange differences arising from BEGIEBZERLESR
translation of foreign operations — — — (57,209) — — (57,209)
Total comprehensive (expense) income € 2 (5 ) I &5 42 %8
for the year — — — (567,209) — 30,472 (26,737)
Recognition of equity-settled share- & 52 LA & 4 45 & LA A% 9
based payments Tz z — — — — 2,392 — 2,392
2017 special and final dividends paid Eff =F—+F 45 K&
RS - — — - — (63,746) (63,746)
At 31st December, 2018 RZT—)\F+=A
=+—H 79,682 481,258 (107,444) (9,212) 2,392 1,103,546 1,550,222
Note: Special reserve represents the difference between the costs of ~ FisE: HFAIFEE R AR R RN E QAR 2 & E KA HEHE

investments in subsidiaries of the Company and the aggregate

amount of the non-voting deferred share capital

of the

subsidiaries and the nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired as a result of the group reorganisation in

2003.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2018 FE#H&

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
BEr—F—\F+ZA=+—HIFE

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Operating activities BEEH
Profit before taxation AT A B 41,718 171,567
Adjustments for: LEHUTFAZE:
Finance costs B % K AR 4,832 2,096
Allowance for inventories FERE 1,413 —
Depreciation of property, plant and M¥E - BEREZH
equipment e 86,594 77,490
Release of prepaid lease payments on land B[O 1+ 5 AR
use rights B HE & RIA 574 557
Interest income F& U A (1,992) (1,710)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BEK
equipment HEBE 1,307 3,816
Share-based payment expense A B 2 2 2 2,392 —
Operating cash flows before movements in NEBESEHAEE
working capital BER=E 136,838 253,816
Increase in inventories FE M (113,580) (33,150)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K H & WK IE 1 N (3,442) (41,596)
(Increase) decrease in deposits and e RIEM KOG M)
prepayments Vo (1,404) 3,708
Increase (decrease) in trade, bills and other &5 « Z & K& Hh 8 1 5 E
payables O ) 4,936 (53,208)
Cash generated from operations EEEEZERS 23,348 129,570
Income tax paid RN ER (2,869) (20,215)
Income tax refunded REFTISHE 35 196
Net cash from operating activities KRETHELEZESTFHE 20,514 109,551
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HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EZRERAHT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018

HE-F-NFTZA=FT—HAUFE

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Investing activities REZH
Purchases of property, plant and equipment WHE®WE  HELRE (146,563) (168,073)
Interest received 2R B 1,992 1,710
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and H&E¥W¥% - B E &
equipment HBATIF IR 1,070 1,262
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHFERAZESTFE (143,501) (165,101)
Financing activities Al & S B
Repayment of bank loans BRIRITER (103,303) (184,223)
Repayment of other bank borrowings BEHEMRTEE (83,656) (140,046)
Dividend paid B E (63,746) (35,859)
Interest paid 21 F & (4,832) (2,096)
New bank loans raised FTIBIRITE R 184,882 127,000
Other bank borrowings drawn EREMBRTEE 61,933 66,700
Net cash used in financing activities RMEIBHFRAZESTE (8,722) (168,524)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERBESZER L FHE (131,709) (224,074)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January R—A—HESERREEE 335,541 547,601
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EX®E & 15,566 12,014
Cash and cash equivalents R+-A=t+t—-HEEK
at 31st December Re&EE
represented by bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 219,398 335,541
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
exempted company with limited liability incorporated in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address
of the registered office of the Company is disclosed under
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 32.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) has
applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs
and an interpretation issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time:
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Amendments to Classification and Measurement
HKFRS 2 of Share-based Payment
Transactions
Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial
HKFRS 4 Instruments” with HKFRS 4
“Insurance Contracts”

Amendments to As part of the Annual Improvements

HKAS 28 to HKFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle

Amendments to
HKAS 40

Transfers of Investment Property
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HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EZRERAHT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
BE-F—N\F+_HA="+—HIFFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

Except as described below, the application of the above
new and amendments to HKFRSs and an interpretation
in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's performance and financial positions for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 “Revenue”,
HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the related
interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1st January,
2018. Any difference at the date of initial application is
recognised in the opening retained profits and comparative
information has not been restated. Furthermore, in
accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the
Group has elected to apply the standard retrospectively
only to contracts that are not completed at 1st January,
2018. Accordingly, certain comparative information may
not be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 18 “Revenue” and the related
interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the manufacturing and
sales of containerboard and corrugated packaging products
which arise from contracts with customers.

The application of HKFRS 15 has no material impact on the
timing and amount of revenue recognised in current year.
Information about the Group’s accounting policies resulting
from application of HKFRS 15 is disclosed in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” and the related consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for 1) the classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities, 2) expected credit
losses (“ECL") for financial assets and 3) general hedge
accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied
the classification and measurement requirements
(including impairment under ECL model) retrospectively
to instruments that have not been derecognised as at
1st January, 2018 (date of initial application) and has not
applied the requirements to instruments that have already
been derecognised as at 1st January, 2018. The difference
between carrying amounts as at 31st December, 2017
and the carrying amounts as at 1st January, 2018 are
recognised in the opening retained profits, without
restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9
are disclosed in note 3.
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HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EZRERAHT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
BE-F—N\F+_HA="+—HIFFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables, which are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to past default experience and
current past due exposure of the debtors.

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, including
other receivables and deposits and bank balances are
assessed on 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") basis as there
had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

As at 1st January, 2018, no additional credit loss
allowance has been recognised against retained profits as
the directors of the Company consider that the amount is
immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
BE-_F—\F+-A=+—HIFE

ERFIREETEREMBREER
TERUBREERDE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

EEMEERERZHTREBITEEM
| EER

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

AEELEREAERTICEMERRERZ
Al RRERTBRBMBRELL

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases' BEEMBEREER BHE
F165%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts? BEBEMBREER RERE L2
ESVE
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax a5 BEEYHRE AEHEEN BTN
Treatments' RELZEY)

- BEFE23%

Amendments to Definition of a Business® BB HREEL EBHERS
HKFRS 3 B35 2B ET

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative BEUBRELER EBFAFHEMNTEMSRENE
HKFRS 9 Compensation’ I 2 1EE]

Amendments to

Sale or Contribution of Assets

BREU B mEER

REEEELBZ QAR

HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its FIOREEREE AELEZENEE
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture® STAERI 55285k 2 HE S E &S
&7
Amendments to Definition of Material* BB ERFEIHR ERANTEE
HKAS 1 and MEB DR
HKAS 8 FE8 2B
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or EBGFERE19 FrENEE  BRKE R
HKAS 19 Settlement! R 2 1ER]
Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates EBeERE28 RNBERFREAELE
HKAS 28 and Joint Ventures' 2B E] MR BER
Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs BEEMGHRELEN 2 -HFE-_T—+F
HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle' &&] BEOEBMGERE

7 QI i F B

RECTE-NF-A—BHHoZ2EREZFE
HR AR -

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after !
1st January, 2019.

RoZE-—F-A—HeZRAKRZFE
HIR AR -

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 2
1st January, 2021.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a 3 REFEEBHK BB 2FE M
date to be determined. e

REBE-_EF A AR Z2RABRZFE
HIR AR -

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 4
1st January, 2020.

HIWERBMA-S _TSF—A—H=zzi
RN ERFENENEBAHREE
Ui B A

5 Effective for business combinations and assets 5
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on
or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1st January, 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
BE-F—N\F+_HA="+—HIFFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16
will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and
leaseback transactions to be determined based on the
requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of
the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS
16 also includes requirements relating to subleases and
lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost
and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of
lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification
of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront
prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in relation
to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified
as investment properties while other operating lease
payments are presented as operating cash flows. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to
lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an
interest portion which will be presented as financing cash
flows by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group
is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result
in potential changes in classification of these assets
depending on whether the Group presents right-of-use
assets separately or within the same line item at which
the corresponding underlying assets would be presented
if they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the
lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues
to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of HK$7,601,000
as disclosed in note 23. A preliminary assessment
indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition
of a lease under HKFRS 16. Upon application of HKFRS
16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$1,243,000 as rights and obligations
under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the
definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right to use
the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts
of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost.
Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the initial measurement of right-of-use assets.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

The application of new requirements may result in changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. The Group intends to elect the practical expedient
to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 “Leases” and
HK(IFRIC) = Int 4 “"Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease” and not apply this standard to contracts
that were not previously identified as containing a lease
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) = Int 4. Therefore, the
Group will not reassess whether the contracts are, or
contain a lease which already existed prior to the date of
initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends to elect
the modified retrospective approach for the application of
HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative
effect of initial application to opening retained profits
without restating comparative information.

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments”

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 sets out how to determine the
accounting tax position when there is uncertainty over
income tax treatments. The interpretation requires an
entity to determine whether uncertain tax positions are
assessed separately or as a group; and assess whether
it is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment used, or proposed to be used, by an entity
in its income tax filings. The directors of the Company
has assessed the financial impact of the application of
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 and anticipate that the effect will be
immaterial to the Group.

Other than as described above, the directors of the
Company anticipates that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2018 FE#H&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
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3.

FNEF A+ AR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at
the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or
service, being at the point the goods are delivered to the
customer. Delivery occurs when the goods have been
shipped to the customer’s specific location.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)

The revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in
time. Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15,
revenue from manufacturing and sales of containerboard
and corrugated packaging products to the Group's
customers is recognised when the goods are passed
to the customers, which is the point of time when the
customer has the ability to direct the use of the goods
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of
the goods.

Variable consideration

For transactions that contain variable consideration, the
Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it
will be entitled using either (a) the expected value method
or (b) the most likely amount, depending on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)

Variable consideration (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1st January, 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is net of discounts and
returns.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's
activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time apportionment
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold
land and buildings held for use in the production or
for administrative purposes, other than construction
in progress as described below, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customer which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1st January, 2018.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liabilities
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liabilities, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with

transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9 (including trade and other receivables, deposits and
bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date.

Assessments are done based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and/
or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings based on share credit risk characteristics by
reference to past default experience and current past due
status of the debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’'s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default,
ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL are the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL are measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the basis:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s trade receivables, other receivables
and bank balances are each assessed as a
separate group);

o Past-due status.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management

to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1st January,
2018)

The Group's financial assets comprise loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables,
deposits and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment of financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective

interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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3.

F—N\FFZ A+ AR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1st January, 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are considered to be impaired when there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period
ranged from 5 to 120 days, as well as observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1st January, 2018) (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instrument

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade, bills and other payables
and unsecured bank borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and

others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Share options granted to employees (continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on
assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve.
For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing (continued)
The Group as lessee

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring
land held under operating leases, are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest
which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases in which case the entire property is accounted as
an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element at initial
recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is amortised over the lease term
on a straight-line basis. When the payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building
elements, the entire property is generally classified as if
the leasehold land is under finance lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity
to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in subsidiaries.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

105

3.

mE MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018

BE—FE—\F+-_A=1+—HIFE
FEESTBERAE

SN ()

REERBEHHEERHEERELZELEZR
RREELHRHANBEPHER - HERLLE
R N FT &I IR S AT AR 3 A (F kT2 KO8 S
EBREFERDZRBHENBINERTZ
EMBEREZELZREGI  c RFELZRNT
REMZEKZTER  BERAEED SN
NTHEHGEMBAR Z SN  KESHEHR

K g ¢
DEEEZE -

HREINGEMBRERME  AEBEBIEBZ
BERABEDRRERERR 2 ERERKRE
REAEBZIRER (BB - WA R HTS
BZFEZTFHEXETHRE  RIFEXRRZ
HFALRKERBRIERNR  RUBERT
ARARRSGEAZERER - IEEZER
ZR(NB)RNEAM 2 E R AR - IR E R
BETNZERRE -

BE XA

BE BEREEREREEHNTERRR
MATARRREREGAEEZEE) CEXKE
HEERAFAZEEEZRA BEEZEE
ECARMRELATEREREAATHRBEERSR
1 e

HEREETRARNAEREERIFRRREMN
MBMZEEBERA RABRTERZEEKAH
B o

AT E Al {8 & R AR TN EE A 2z B 10 48 A O B

=7
7 e



HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EZRERAHT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
BE-F—N\F+_HA="+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme")/state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company
are required to make estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Contingent liabilities and provision of tax
liabilities in relation to the tax audits on the
Group conducted by Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department (the “IRD")

As set out in note 26, the IRD is conducting tax audits
on the Company and certain of its subsidiaries in respect
of years of assessments 2004/2005 to 2012/2013. The
Group appointed a tax representative to respond to the
IRD on its behalf and the directors have determined the
potential tax liability based on their judgement, which may
be different from the IRD’s opinion.

The Group only recognises liabilities for tax and tax-
related expense when the potential tax liabilities are
probable. Since the directors consider that whilst the tax
audits are still on-going, the IRD issued the protective
assessments for the years of assessment from 2004/2005
to 2012/2013 to the Group in order not to jeopardise the
assessment powers of the IRD which will be time-barred
after 6 years of assessment. The directors believe the
Group is more likely than not to successfully pursue the
offshore claims and their tax filing position, therefore it
is not probable for the Group to be required eventually to
settle the potential tax liabilities. Accordingly, the directors
consider that no additional provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax in respect of the tax audits for the years of
assessment 2004/2005 to 2012/2013 was necessary as
at 31st December, 2018. However, the ultimate outcome
of the tax audits is uncertain and the potential tax liability
cannot be ascertained with certainty at the present stage.

Allowance for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories, the directors of the
Company would evaluate ageing analysis of inventories
and compare the carrying value of inventories to their
respective net realisable values based on latest market
prices and current economic conditions. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in determining such
allowance. If conditions which have an impact on the
net realisable value of inventories deteriorate/improve,
additional allowances/reversal of allowances already made
may be required.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Allowance for inventories (continued)

The carrying amount of inventories as at 31st December,
2018 was HK$258,661,000 (net of allowance for
inventories of HK$1,989,000) (2017: HK$157,409,000 (net
of allowance for inventories of HK$735,000)).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on past due status as groupings of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is
grouped based on past default experience and current
past due status of the debtors. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, trade receivables with significant balances and
credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’'s trade
receivables are disclosed in notes 30 and 16 respectively.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, the directors
of the Company estimate the useful lives of various
categories of property, plant and equipment according to
their experiences over the usage of property, plant and
equipment and also by reference to the relevant industrial
norm. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
are reviewed annually. If the expectations differ from the
previous estimates, the changes will be accounted for
prospectively as changes in accounting estimates.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as

at 31st December, 2018 was HK$1,394,531,000 (2017:
HK$1,399,143,000).
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WzmKkoHBEH

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

An analysis of the Group’s revenue by type of goods is
as follows:

BEFERNBBHDN

AEEREMmBREM SO :

IR AR 3H &

Sales of containerboard
Sales of corrugated packaging

The Group applies the practical expedient that information
regarding the transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers is not
disclosed as the original expected duration of the contracts
are less than one year.

Segment information

The Group’s manufacturing operations are located in the
People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The Group's operations are organised based on the
differences in products. Information reported to the
executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance is analysed based on the difference in
products. No operating segments identified by CODM
have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’'s reportable and operating
segments are categorised into the manufacture and sale
of:

o Containerboard — corrugating medium and linerboard
o Corrugated packaging — corrugated paper boards and

carton boxes

Information regarding the above segments is reported
below.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERIBER(E)

(continued)
Segment information (continued) PEWER(E)
Segment revenues and results D EHY R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and LTAEEERAZERD S D2 AEE Y =
results by operating and reportable segments: ES Sk ik
For the year ended 31st December, 2018 HEZTE - N\F+ZA=+—"ALFE
Corrugated Segment
Containerboard Packaging total Eliminations Consolidated
BiRE RBEE SBEAG ¥ 85 mE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHx FET FET FET
REVENUE Iy 2
External sales HINEE
Inter-segment sales DERE &
Total BEt
RESULT ¥E&
Segment profit oA E

Central administrative ~ P R{TH X
expenses
Finance costs B 75 B AR

Profit before taxation %t B | &
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERIBER(E)

(continued)
Segment information (continued) PEER ()
Segment revenues and results (continued) DE W RFEE(E)
For the year ended 31st December, 2017 HE-_Z—+tF+=-A=+—HILFE
Corrugated Segment
Containerboard  Packaging total Eliminations ~ Consolidated
FBiRE ERBEeE HIEE i o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FTHT FHET FET FET
REVENUE W =
External sales HINHE 497,871 1,025,339 1,523,210 — 1,623,210
Inter-segment sales DEEIEE 746,920 — 746,920 (746,920) —
Total Bt 1,244,791 1,025,339 2,270,130 (746,920) 1,523,210
RESULT E¥
Segment profit 2 E | 152,581 95,597 248,178 — 248,178
Central administrative ~ R {TH X
expenses (74,515)
Finance costs R AN (2,096)
Profit before taxation %% Al # )8 171,567
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies adopted in preparing the
reportable segment information are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of central administrative
expenses and finance costs. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.
No revenue from any single customer during the year
contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
for both years.

Other segment information

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

Amounts included in the measurement of segment profit:

5.

Interest income B WA
Release of prepaid lease payments % [0 + #h & 3 #
on land use rights FERHEERE
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Wi KD EBE R (E)

DEWER(E)

DA e R FEAE(E)
REAZBOBERNRRAB 2SR EN T
B ANEE G BRAR -

DEWAMBREES S AR ZAE - BERDE
PRITEASXEFBERAR - RO EEIRR
FERBAMERGCIBEERREZNE -

DEHEEENSRETTHEFE -
RMEFER HEEFAE-FPRFAZK
HEBMEBANEERKEEFEI0% -
Bt 7 BEH

BE-T—\5+-A=+—ALEE

FHRESRNBRERZ2®E:

Corrugated
Containerboard packaging Total
AR EHEaE% A5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TR FH
(1,386) (606) (1,992)
510 64 574
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information (continued)
Other segment information (continued)
For the year ended 31st December, 2017

Amounts included in the measurement of segment profit:

5.

mE MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018

BE-F—\F+=A=+—HAUFE
Wik D HBER ()

DEER(E)
RS BER(E)
BE-T—+t&+-A=+—AIEE

FHRESRNBERER 2R

Corrugated

Containerboard packaging Total

8 R 4R 158 % KB AT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET

Interest income B WA (910) (800) (1,710)

Release of prepaid lease payments % [0 + #h & 3 #

on land use rights FERHEHE 496 61 557

Geographical information B &

The following table sets out information about (i) the
Group’s revenue from external customers by location of
delivery destination of the goods and (ii) the Group’s non-
current assets by location of assets:

TREINEBOAEERERZINENHE D
ZHNKREP Y s M)A EBRE EfE RS
DZIIFERBDEEZER:

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
MR B FRBEE

2018
HK$'000
TER

2017 2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TER TAET

PRC F 1,423,860 1,523,210 1,392,481 1,397,168
Hong Kong BE — 21,634 22,854
Macau P — 1,416 1,572

1,423,860 1,523,210 1,415,531 1,421,594
Segment assets and liabilities T HEEREE

The measure of the segment reporting of the Group
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment does not include
any assets and liabilities. Accordingly, no segment assets
and liabilities are presented.
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BE-F—N\F+_HA="+—HIFFE

6.

OTHER INCOME

Other income includes:

Interest income
Scrap sales

Service income
Sundry income (note)

Note: Amount including HK$6,209,000 (2017: nil) represents
one-off refund received by one of the Company’'s PRC
subsidiaries for qualifying as a High and New-Tech

Enterprise.

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on unsecured bank borrowings

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax:
Hong Kong Profits Tax
PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Deferred tax (note 21)

6. HMWKA
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FB T FAT
HEib gk ABIE:
B A 1,992 1,710
BEmmiH & 611 295
BR 7% U A 9,413 8,476
LRGN D) 9,175 2,156
21,191 12,637
Mat: %4 %A 16,209,000 (=T —+ &
/) BARR—HBHRENBAREFAES
TENEEMESH —ZERBER -
7. HMERAK
2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FET
EEBRTEEZANE 4,832 2,096
8. FEBHEX
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FET
BN HA #5718 -
EAEREH 417 887
FEEMRER 2,413 20,166
2,830 21,053
i RE T I8 (M 5E21) 8,416 12,804
11,246 33,857
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

On 21st March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28th March,
2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

A portion of the Group's profits are earned by the Macau
subsidiaries of the Group incorporated under the Macau
SAR's Offshore Law. Pursuant to the Macau SAR's
Offshore Law, such portion of profits are exempted from
Macau complementary tax, which is currently at 12%
of the profits. Further, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, that portion of the Group's profit is not
at present subject to taxation in any other jurisdiction in
which the Group operates.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1st
January, 2008 onwards.
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RZB-NF=ZA-+—H BELEZGEB
TR EERBUEEETR) RO E R (E
PIEZR])  SIAMBHRGSHEGE - HHIE
ERE-NF=ZR-FTN\BEEXRERYL
REATEZR - REMBHFESHES - &
E1% (b % 2 E2,000,000% 7T % 15 #28.25% <
i & BT - i R 382,000,000 7T 2 % F AR
16.5% Z TR o T1F & M AR B F S 5K 5
ERZEBEBEB 2 ENBEBEIZ165% 28 —
TR -

ARAREERR  BITNEHMRSERAE R
MEBEHSAVMBHRRMSEM - BEFNEH
THIR R F 2 b 5T R M H 216.6%H E o

7N 55 B 5B o MR T i AN Sk BUAR BOR PIAF BI AT R
6B B A B RE A AL 2 R P Y B R B AT R ER -
RIBBRFRHITRRBER AR XM MNER
AR B (B RTRNE Z212% B -
AN RRABEER A - BATA K EZ D F
TN G AR AN R B R R P 2 AT (] B B A B
ARSI -

REGFECEMSRE(RERGHRED R
EMBVEERED B _TFNF—-H—H
o hEEARZHER25% °



HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EiZERERAH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
BE2=—F— ) \F+=ZA=+—HIFE

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 8. MEFHEX(E
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to FEMSHEAYHEGAEGSREMZEKER
the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement FrRB A FE < SR T
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FAT
Profit before taxation B A1 A E 41,718 171,567
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of EEBFEHE16.5%
16.5% (2017:16.5%) ZE—+%:16.5%)
FTE I 6,883 28,309
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBBRAZREZE
tax purpose (109) (1,230)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A 15 5 sz = i 75 5 2
tax purpose 5,155 949
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FALNARER 2B IEBE
recognised = (46)
Effect of tax different tax rate of the PRC HFEM B AR E R 2
subsidiaries e 6,226 14,987
Effect of tax exemption granted to BEPINB AR ERERIEZ
Macau subsidiaries ga (7,509) (14,820)
Tax effect of undistributed earnings of FEREMBARRDIREFZ
the PRC subsidiaries (note 21) HsgE Mz 765 5,708
Others H At (165) —
Income tax expense for the year FEMEHRAX 11,246 33,857
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9. FERB®
2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx TETT

Profit for the year has been arrived at after FE FEE &% (7t A)

charging (crediting): T3 &I
Depreciation of property, plant and M BB REZE
equipment ZE 86,594 77,490
Release of prepaid lease payments on land #[a] £ i {F /8
use rights B HEERE 574 557
Total depreciation and amortisation mEREHGR 87,168 78,047
Less: Amount included in cost of inventories ¥ : st AR AR 2
recognised as expenses FTEKRAELEE (80,292) (72,033)
6,876 6,014
Staff costs 8T AR
Directors’ emoluments (note 10) EEM < (K310 18,193 63,165
Other staff HEMmET
— salaries and other allowances — ek HEMEA 82,803 112,733
— retirement benefit scheme — BRIREFEE
contributions 3R 12,592 11,720
— share-based payments — AR H Rz 2B 939 —
114,527 187,618
Less: Amount included in cost of inventories ¥ : St AR A X 2
recognised as expenses GFERASHE (56,344) (77,178)
58,183 110,440
Auditor's remuneration % 8RN BY & 1,560 1,540
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses MR A X 2 7 & Bk A& 1,222,213 1,117,744
Exchange losses, net* fEHEE FE* 6,256 1,239
Impairment loss recognised on inventories Ft 17 & 7 32 B 8 1B &5 18
(included in “cost of sales” and “cost of  (FF A& A | K [ # 2
inventories recognised as expenses”) BRI Z2HFEKAK] 1,413 —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEVE BEMLXED
equipment* & a8~ 1,307 3,816
Operating lease rental for warehouse and EBENHAEWERN
office premises wEAEES 10,742 10,444
* Amounts included in “other expenses” * T ATEAR X
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’

10.

EMOLUMENTS

Directors

10. ESRFETBRAEHME RESZHMH

Other emoluments

Hit &
Retirement
Salaries benefit Share-
and other scheme based 2018
Fees benefits contributions payments Total
ek BREFR URGXA
Hwe HtEd TEHR ZX i BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER BT TER TAR
Executive directors: HITEZE:
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (resigned on FHRERTERZE-N\F
15th August, 2018) NATHHA %% E) = 2,605 8 - 2,613
Mr. Hui Sum Ping FHRTELE = 6,455 18 447 6,920
Mr. Hui Sum Tai HRERE = 6,100 18 447 6,565
Ms. Hui Yuen Li AHA L - 984 18 447 1,449
Independent non-executive directors: B FHTEE:
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric MRAELE 178 - - 56 234
Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan (resigned on %Ii’lf‘ii( AZE-NE
12th January, 2019) A+=H ?ﬁ;fi) 178 - - - 178
Mr. Wong Chu Leung BHRiE 178 - - 56 234
534 16,144 62 1,453 18,193
Other emoluments
Hthi e
Retirement
Salaries benefit Share-
and other scheme based 2017
Fees benefits Bonus contribut'\ons payments Total
Hek W B UBROSA
we  HtEA Al STEIfR 22 wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL FTET TAET FTET TAEL FTET
Executive directors: HITEF:
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (resigned on  3F & E &4 (1 =% — NE
15th August, 2018) NA+EBEA) — 5,611 15,000 18 — 20,629
Mr. Hui Sum Ping TRYEE — 5,611 15,000 18 — 20,629
Mr. Hui Sum Tai TRREE — 5,294 15,000 18 — 20,312
Ms. Hui Yuen Li AR L - 892 175 18 — 1,085
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE:
directors:
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric BRETE 170 — — — — 170
Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan (resigned on  EBEHLE(R=T-N&
12th January, 2019) —A+=-B&M) 170 — — — — 170
Mr. Wong Chu Leung BERRAE 170 — — — — 170
510 17408 45175 72 — 63,165
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors (continued)

Mr. Hui Sum Tai is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and Group and the independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown were for their
services as directors of the Company. During the year, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to these directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office and no director had waived
any emoluments.

Employees

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, four (2017: four) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are set out above. The
emoluments of the remaining individual for the year ended
31st December, 2018 amounted to HK$1,288,000 (2017:
HK$952,000), representing salaries and other benefits
of HK$823,000 (2017: HK$782,000), nil bonus (2017:
HK$152,000), retirement benefits scheme contributions of
HK$18,000 (2017: HK$18,000) and share-based payments
of HK$447,000 (2017: nil), for his/her service rendered to
the Group. Emoluments paid to the remaining individual
fell under the band of HK$1,000,000 to HK$2,000,000.

Bonus to directors and employees were determined based

on the financial performance of the Group for the years
ended 31st December, 2018 and 31st December, 2017.
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BE-_F—\F+-A=+—HIFE

10. ESRFETBRAEHME RESZHMH

(&

BEx(#)

MRBELEMBARREBZITHRAER REX
BB EHETETHRASRM
RGMERZME -

EXHTRORTESHE IRSEREELRRE
EAREEEBOREME  FROEIERTT
EEME N RFE/RARRRESFIEMHRBEH
e - FR AEEREXNEMNHE TIHE
EEFERBEENMASFEREMAREE 28
B FRERBEES  TEEEREMLM
[ A

’BE

AEEBRANUESFMALS  Hbpmiz(ZZ—
+tF M) BARRES  FEZFHER L
X#E - BEZE-NF+-_A=+—HBHLF
E-#T—fATZE % 51,288000% (=
T —+EF:952,0008 ) BRERBERAEER
RIERBIZAZ #H e R EMEFS23,0008 T
(ZZ—+F:782,00087T) * TREA(ZZT—+
£ 152,000 7T) « R K18 7 5T 2] £t 318,000
BT (ZF — £ 4F 18,000/ 7T) M WA B 19 2 f+F
24470008 T (S —+F F) T
#BTATZEE 97 F1,000,000% 7T Z= 2,000,000
oA Bl o
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BEr - \F+_A=+—HItFE
11. DIVIDENDS 1. BE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the Erﬁﬁ REBDIRKZARAE
Company recognised as distribution BREBREZRE:
during the year:
2017 final — HK1.5 cents Z—tFRH
(2016: HK1.5 cents) per share — F1.5%F 1
(: T —NF 1.5 1) 11,953 11,953
2017 special final — HK6.5 cents T FERIKRE
(2016: HK3.0 cents) per share — T 6.5
(ZZ—"F 3.0 51,793 23,906
63,746 35,859
The directors did not recommend the payment of a final EETERREBEEZE-_ZS - N\F+A=Z+—BLFE
dividend for the year ended 31st December, 2018. AT R EBAR B o
12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. BRER

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

AAREANEEEREARBERF T RN T &
i EHE

2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHER FAT
Earnings B’*IJ
Earnings for the purposes of basic and st EERERNLEEEF 2
diluted earnings per share BR(ZE—tF:
(2017: basic earnings per share) BRELRAF) 30,472 137,710
Number of shares KRoOHE
Weighted average number of ordinary T EEFREARAF Z
shares for the purpose of basic T3 A% 0 RE
earnings per share 796,824,000 796,824,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares 8 B A% # & B8 ~ /& £ # 5%
in respect of share options TRk e 2,991,100 —
Weighted average number of ordinary s ESREFAF 2
shares for the purpose of diluted LB AR Nk e &
earnings per share 799,815,100 796,824,000

No diluted earnings per share was presented for the year
ended 31st December, 2017 as the Company had no
potential ordinary shares in the previous year.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. M¥ BERRE
Furniture, Plant,
Factory Leasehold fixtures machinery
premises land and Leasehold and office and Motor Construction
in the PRC  buildings improvements equipment equipment  vehicles in progress Total
B
RER
BELH HENX BRE BE K
TEEE  RET %6 B S "E EEBIR @zt

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TEL  TER TER TR TEL  TER TERL  TER

coST KA

At 1st January, 2017 ZE-t%-f-H 436,664 23,025 54,814 16,585 1,412,916 12,132 10,280 1,966,416
Exchange adjustments AR 21,926 77 1,846 431 66,295 267 544 91,386
Additions BR 2,230 - 4,790 1445 48,784 3,482 107,967 168,698
Reclassification ENNE 4,041 — 2,542 334 99,376 - (106,293) -
Disposals HE - - - (304 8,557) (910) - (9,771)
At 31st December, 2017  Z“F—+t5+ZA=+—H 464,861 23,102 63,992 18,491 1,618,814 14,971 12,498 2,216,729
Exchange adjustments 5 AR (17,837) (61) (2,160) (426)  (63,335) (228) (84)  (84,131)
Additions #H 2,605 — 9,924 533 27,034 589 100,311 140,996
Reclassification ENNE 847 — 68 — 109,212 — (110,127) -
Disposals HeE - - (49) (37) (4,187) (697) - (4,970)
At 31st December, 2018 ZE—\F+ZA=1+—H 450476 23,041 71,775 18,561 1,687,538 14,635 2,598 2,268,624
DEPRECIATION nE

At 1st January, 2017 “Z-t%-A-H 165,410 1137 47427 13510 478873 9,548 — 715,905
Exchange adjustments B 55 B 8,270 34 1,631 324 18,411 217 - 28,787
Provided for the year FEEE 17,840 922 2,938 861 53,591 1,338 — 77490
Eliminated on disposals HERETH - - - (260) (3,429) (907) - (4,596)
At 31st December, 2017  ZE—+%&+ZA=+—FH 19152 2,093 51,896 14,435 547,446 10,196 — 817,586
Exchange adjustments R (7,653) (30) (1,417) (300) (17,920) (174) —  (27,494)
Provided for the year FERE 18,572 924 3,682 910 61,051 1,455 — 86,594
Eliminated on disposals HERTH - - (49) (36) (1,819) (689) - (2,593)
At 31st December, 2018 —“E—\E+-A=+—-8 202439 2,987 54,112 15,009 588758 10,788 — 874,093
CARRYING VALUES REE

At 31st December, 2018 ZE—-A\F+ZA=1+—H 248037 20,054 17,663 3,562 1,098,780 3,847 2,698 1,394,531

At 31st December, 2017  ZE—+%&+ZA=+—H 273341 21,009 12,096 4,056 1,071,368 4775 12,498 1,399,143
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2=
13.

14.

—E A AUEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
than construction in progress, are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Factory premises in 4% or remaining lease term of the

the PRC land element, if shorter
Leasehold land and 4% or remaining lease term of the

buildings land element, if shorter
Leasehold 20%

improvements
Furniture, fixtures and 10%

office equipment
Plant, machinery and
equipment
Motor vehicles

31,% - 33,%
20%

The carrying amount of the above-mentioned factory
premises in the PRC does not include any land element
which is presented as “prepaid lease payments on land
use rights” separately.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND USE
RIGHTS

13.

14.

ME - BERRE(E)

biimE BMEERREERB(EREZIRZKINIK
BERERATERFE:

o B & 4%k T a2 BT FH AP
(A8 55 & B %)

HELHHREF 4% 5k T Bl 2 #2 T FH HA
(A8 55 & B %)

HEMEEE 20%

R HER 10%

BAERE
BE RERBRE 3/,% - 33/,%

"E 20%

EX A B R 2 AREE T B A i

Mo ZAMEBILEN AL EBEEN
HERE]-

T fE AERNEERR

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHExT FAET
The Group's prepaid lease payments on AEELEREENEE
land use rights comprise: RIERIE
Land use rights in the PRC I AR E 2 £ 1 fF A4 21,549 23,009
Analysed for reporting purposes as: R ED T
Non-current assets ERBEE 21,000 22,451
Current assets mENEE 549 558
21,549 23,009

Included in the Group's prepaid lease payments on
land use rights is HK$1,438,000 (2017: HK$1,560,000)
prepayments under processing arrangement which
represents the prepaid amount under an operating lease
for land use rights.
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BEr—F—\F+ZA=+—HIFE

INVENTORIES 15. &8

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Raw materials R %t 145,796 114,017
Work in progress M 767 471
Finished goods BB 112,098 42,921
258,661 157,409

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. ES R HEMEKRKE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FET
Trade receivables H 5 E WA 176,499 180,021
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEEBREE (2,433) (2,533)
174,066 177,488
Other receivables H b fE W SR 809 1,151
Total trade and other receivables B 5 &k H A E W KIE B 174,875 178,639
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16.

BE-F—N\F+_HA="+—HIFFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(continued)

The Group allows credit periods ranging from 5 to 120
days to its trade customers which may be extended to
selected trade customers depending on their trade volume
and history of settlement with the Group. The following is
an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for
credit losses presented based on the invoice date, which
approximates the respective revenue recognition dates, at
the end of the reporting period:

16.

EZRAEMERARIEAGE)

REBGLTFTESREFLSE1200EZEE - AL
BERTEZIRFPUAEBR B2 N BAN
HEsmFAERZEES - T ARKEH
RERBZAH(ELA 2 MEERARIL
NGREEBEEREEEEM2YN 2ESRKRFEBZ
FRER DT -

Within 30 days 30HA

31-60 days 31260H
61-90 days 61290H
Over 90 days @90 H

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses
an external litigation search to assess the potential
customer'’s credit quality and defines credit limits on a
customer-by-customer basis. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed monthly. Trade receivables that
are neither past due nor impaired relate to customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

As at 31st December, 2018, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate gross
amount of HK$30,362,000 which are past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$490,000
has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default. Such amount relates to a number of
independent customers that have good trade and payment
records with the Group. There has not been a significant
change in credit quality of the relevant customers and the
Group believes that the balances are still recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAET
172,181 174,154
1,480 2,701
405 361

= 272
174,066 177,488

EEMNEMFEEN  AEBESRAINBFRL
RR FHEBREEEFPZEELERERAES
EFREFERE BEZFERBLIRE
BHEL RN - BRBEHXRBEEZEZ R
REEAHYBEERNREHE2EPER -

RZZE—N\E+_A=+—H Xr£EBrE5
JEWRIB & HP BE ST 2% /530,362,000%8
TLZEWEIE SR BERBEACDHE -
mH A4S & 0 490,00078 T E B HI90A 3 M £
RIS RBEN ZERBASZERNMAELEE
RERTBIRNRALBZBLIRFLEM - Z
ERFZEEEEYEERNNE  BAEEM
EHAKEEREES  AEBTVERZEEH
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BE-_F—\F+-A=+—HIFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. ESREMEWRRIEE)
(continued)
As at 31st December, 2017, trade receivables amounting RZE—+tF+_A=+—HB BZFEKHE
of HK$41,351,000 were past due at the reporting date 41,351,000 T mEAHEBE  MAER
for which the Group has not provided for impairment WERLETREBERE -ZEREHRZH
loss. Such amount relates to a number of independent MAEERBRTESIENRLHEZBILRP
customers that have good trade and payment records W - ZERFPZEEERUEERNNE
with the Group. There has not been a significant change AEBEEDAIMEEBES - NEBIL &
in credit quality of the relevant customers and the Group ZE®EBmMEEAMERR -
believes that the balances are still recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.
The average age of these receivables is 45 days (2017: RIEBHZEHE  ZERWFENFYRER 45
37 days) based on invoice dates. H(ZZ—+4:378) -
Ageing of trade receivables which are past due EAMERBREZE ZERKEZRE
but not impaired
2017
HK$'000
FAT
Overdue by 1 to 30 days # H1E30H 41,351
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts REBEZEH
2017
HK$'000
FAT
Balance at beginning of the year F Y 2,406
Exchange adjustments P& 5 A& 127
Balance at end of the year FRER 2,533

For the year ended 31st December, 2017, impairment
losses were recognised based on the Group’s historical
experience, aged analysis and internal assessment of the
recoverability of the debt.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other

receivables for the year ended 31st December, 2018 are
set out in note 30.

125

BE_T—tF+_A=1t—RHLEFE RE
BRLDREASEHERE 2 BEER  RikD
A B M B 4% & 1 0 28 &Y Al T RE AR e

EHEE T NE+_A=t+—BHIEE "
SR EMEWFIBRET G ZFBRDH T
30 °



HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &%

SEZRERDA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
BE-F—N\F+_HA="+—HIFFE

17. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 17.

Bank balances and cash carry interest at prevailing market
rates from 0.001% to 1.250% (2017: 0.001% to 1.250%).

As at 31st December, 2018, bank balances and cash
including time deposits of Renminbi (“RMB") 10,000,000
(equivalent to HK$11,299,000) carried interest at prevailing
interest rate at 2.06% per annum.

Included in the carrying amount of the Group's
bank balances, approximately HK$9,057,000 (2017:
HK$3,064,000), HK$5,889,000 (2017: HK$19,218,000),
HK$2,276,000 (2017: HK$7,349,000) and HK$234,000
(2017: HK$250,000) denominated in RMB, United States
dollars (“US$"), HK$ and Macau Patacas ("“MOP")
respectively are the currencies other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities.

18. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 18.

The suppliers of the Group grant credit periods ranging
from 30 to 90 days. The following is an aged analysis of
trade and bills payables presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period:

ROTEHRRRE

RITHE B RE S DHRBITH S F L0.001% %2
1.250% (Z & — £ F:0.001% Z£1.250%) &
=N

RZE—)\F+-_A=+—H ' ' B7&E%HER2
BEBRBTEMNER206% B EHERAR
(T A R #1)10,000,0007T (48 & #11,299,000
BIL) ©

AEBUEBEEER 2NEEE NI B
ARE T B RRME (R SIE
ZIRITH B ZBREE D B4 A9,057,00058 7T
(ZZT—+4 3,064,000 7T) - 5,889,000 7T
(ZZ — + 4 :19,218,000/8 JT) * 2,276,000/
TT(=ZF—+4 17,349,000 7T) % 234,000/8 ¢
(ZZT—+ 4 :250,000/7T) °

EZ EBRHMEMSRE
AEBZHEEFREN TI0E0ENEES -

THARBERARERBZAIMEIZES
REBREBMNREBEZRE D

2018 2017

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHER FAT

Current BN EA 86,254 51,186

Overdue 1 to 30 days #HE1E30H 327 103

Overdue 31 to 60 days #mHI31Z=60H 270 31

Overdue for more than 60 days #HI60H M £ 1,449 1,211

Trade and bills payables B EBENRIA 88,300 52,811
Payables for the acquisition of property, BEWE BERSKHEZ

plant and equipment &1 3R 19,207 24,774

PRC duties payables J& < Hh B 77 1A 30,215 40,077
Other payables and accrued charges HEMEMNREIETS T

(note) (B 5% 94,308 123,524

232,030 241,186

Note: Major items of other payables and accrued charges are
accrued salaries and wages.

The average credit period on purchases of goods is
29 days (2017: 39 days). The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables
are within the credit time frame.
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UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS 19. |BEBRITHEE
Unsecured bank borrowings comprise: EIEMBRITEERRE
2018 2017
Effective interest rate HK$000 HK$'000
BEAI= FHET FET
Bank loans RITER 2.152% - 3.418%
(2017: 1.424% - 3.153%) 176,055 89,237

Other bank borrowings H #1718 E 3.108% — 3.148%
(2017: 1.759% — 1.776%) 45,000 66,700

221,055 165,937

2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Carrying amount repayable*: JEEEREE":
Within one year —FR 123,333 93,448
More than one year, but not exceeding —FULEETBBMRE
two years 40,000 10,821
More than two years, but not exceeding MEL EBETBEBRF
five years 14,722 6,668
178,055 110,937
Carrying amount of bank loans that contain B & & B3k E &R (A%
a repayment on demand clause (shown HAGEINT)RER—F
under current liabilities) and repayable NEEZIRTERZER
within one year (] 43,000 45,000
221,055 155,937
Less: Amount due within one year shown B R ABEEY RZ—F
under current liabilities N EH € &8 (166,333) (138,448)
Amounts due after one year shown as RIEREBEGEIN T2 —F&
non-current liabilities FH & & 54,722 17,489
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates * HEeERBEHEARERBR A TEEERB
set out in the loan agreements. BRTEE E o
As at 31st December, 2018 and 31st December, 2017, RZE-N\FF+ZA=F+—BERZZT—LF+

the unsecured bank borrowings carried interest at floating ZTA=+—8 EEARTEERZIHMNEG
rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate B EAEAEBREAERESRENERR - Z
risk. The interest rates are linked to Hong Kong Interbank EMNEEFBROTRAERBTEBRITRAER
Offered Rate (“HIBOR"). BB -

127



HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &2 &EZRERAHT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018
BE-F—N\F+_HA="+—HIFFE

20. SHARE CAPITAL 20. A
Number of Share
shares capital
BHEE [N
2018 & 2017 2018 & 2017
HK$'000
FAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each FREEI0B L2
TR AR
Authorised: VEE R -
At the beginning and the end of the year A ) M 4% 1,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRBRRKA:
At the beginning and the end of the year RENRFLR 796,824,000 79,682
21. DEFERRED TAXATION 21. EEHIE

RENGAMBRREME - A TREREE
ERBEECES - AT AREERRIEE
BBEMECEE) RRAREFE RUEREF
EX TR

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The followings are the
deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised by the Group
and movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting years:

Undistributed

earnings
Accelerated tax of the PRC  Write-down of
depreciation subsidiaries inventories Total
TENBARZ
MERBERE ® 5K EF FE MR wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THT FAET FHET
At 1st January, 2017 RZZE—+4F
—H—A 36,400 15,816 (32) 52,184
Charge to profit or loss B MK 7,096 5,708 — 12,804
At 31st December, 2017 RZ-ZE—+
+-A=+—~H 43,496 21,624 (32) 64,988
Charge to profit or loss B Mk 7,651 765 — 8,416
At 31st December, 2018 H-Z—\£F
+-—A=+—H 51,147 22,289 (32) 73,404

REBEFPEDEMETE - BB TR 5 BB
RRBZZEENF A BRI ZFE®
Tk Z B BB -

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
PRC subsidiaries from 1st January, 2008 onwards.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company approved and adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) on 3rd June, 2013 for the primary
purpose of providing incentive or rewards to selected
participants for their contribution to the Group.

Under the Scheme, the Board of directors of the
Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including executive or non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors), of the Company,
its subsidiaries, or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
any member of the Group holds any equity interest, to
subscribe for shares in the Company. Additionally, the
Company may, from time to time, grant share options to
any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity, any customer of the Group
or any Invested Entity, and any consultants, advisers,
managers, officers or entities that provides research,
development or other technological support to the Group
or any Invested Entity.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue as at the date of the passing of
the ordinary resolution for adoption of the Scheme. The
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised at
any time under the Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company's shareholders in accordance with the Scheme.
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director or any of their
respective associates would result in the shares in the
Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue and with a value (based on the
closing price of the shares of the Company at the offer
date of each offer) in excess of HK$5,000,000, such grant
of options must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders in accordance with the Scheme.
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22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 22. URBRBZz2XH(E)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) BREXAXRZERETE(Z)
An option may be exercised at any time during the period BERETRESETANEARAZHER
to be determined and notified by the directors to the BERFIT(E - MABETE - AIRERITHERE
grantee and in the absence of such determination, from B RREZERERI 2R T HZEREL
the date of acceptance of an offer of the grant of such BB TF2REAH - RENERERN AN
option to the earlier of the date on which such option 1B TTHRAE -
lapses and ten years from the date of offer of that option.
A consideration of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance of
the offer.
The exercise price is determined by the directors of TEEIBEARARESETE  ETASERKRMD
the Company, and will not be less than the higher of HE AQFBRMOAREE BB Z W mE &K
the nominal value of the share; the closing price of the EERPAPIAEEER 2 FHETE R
Company's shares on the date of offer; and the average [SE
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer.
The following table discloses details of the Company’s TERPEHESNEMEEFREZARRER
share options held by the directors and other employees BUAMZEERERTFRAZEHFE:
and movements in such holdings during the year:
Exercised Granted  Exercised
Exercise  Outstanding during Outstanding during during Outstanding
Option type Date of grant price at 1.1.2017 the year at 31.12.2017 the year the year BREIEINPFINE]
R-B-tf R-ZB-tfF
-A-AH +=A=1+-R
BRESR R A THE HARITE  ERTE HARTE  FARE ERTE
HK$
BT
Granted under Scheme
REZERD
Option type G 15.10.2018 0.435 — — — 42,640,000 — 42,640,000
CEERE
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 22. LRI z2XH(E)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) BREXAXRZERETE(Z)

Note: T 5 -

The vesting period, which is the period from the date of grant to BREERE2EBEHARLBHAERITHEBEARA -
the exercisable date, of the share options granted is determined TDEARFEEFRTABLBERERET - BEZ
by directors of the Company at each time when the options are FEEL CEREZFAEAETRUTATFESA
granted. Holders of share options granted under the Scheme TR

may only exercise their options during the exercisable periods as

follows:

Option type G Maximum % of share options exercisable

GEERE ATEBEERSESL

Exercisable periods:

A AT 1 B
1.5.2019 - 30.4.2020 up to 50%
&= Al E50%
1.5.2020 - 30.4.2021 up to 75% (to the extent not already exercised)
EE A E75% M KITEERR)
1.56.2021 - 30.4.2026 up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)
= AlE100% (A KRITEERR)
For the year ended 31st December, 2018 BE-ZE-—-NE+ZA=+—HLEE
The fair values of the share options at the grant date were RELAHZERENAFEDFEFA ZEAR
calculated using the Binomial model. The inputs into the Nt - ZBEXN 2@ A BN T :

model were as follows:

Share price on the date of grant RELEBHZRKRE HK$0.420% 7T
Exercise price 7B HK$0.435% 7T
Expected volatility T8 HA R 1@ 60%
Expected life from date of grant MR o B AR AT TE AT F HA 7.5 years
Risk free rate 2 b R & 2.42%
Expected dividend vyield ST RS 1.78%
Expected volatility was determined by using the historical FEEH R R IE A AT RN H HHE A1875H HA &
volatility of the Company’s 875-day share prices before ZRRENBEZEEET - ZEXFTH BT
the date of grant. The expected life used in the model has FHORETERBR T EEMS - 1TERHI &7
been adjusted, based on the management’s best estimate, BREBZVEEE ZREGAE -

for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions
and behavioral considerations.

The Group recognised total expense of HK$2,392,000 AREBREREE_Z—N\FEF+_HBA=+—81F
(2017: nil) for the year ended 31st December, 2018 in FEHARNGABEECEREEA 2 EYH A
relation to share options granted by the Company. 2,392,000 L (Z&E —+HF : ) o
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23. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 23.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating lease which fall due as follows:

REHERE

RBEMR ARERBTITHELEHEE
ARKEBEEFIEEAE - BR T HAMEE:

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_FEFRF
(BREEEMF)

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its warehouse, ancillary office
properties and car parks. Lease is negotiated for an
average term of two years (2017: two years) with fixed
monthly rentals over the term of the lease.

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAET
7,601 10,692

- 7,903

7,601 18,595

REMEFREAEEES TRIERE - WEIH
AYEREFEBEL ENES  c HEZFHFH
BERMF(CE—LF MF) LRELH
B fHERAME -

24. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 24, EXREE
2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$'000
THEx FAET
Capital expenditure in respect of the ERTHERAREE T ERE
acquisition of plant, machinery and REBCHE - HEREE

equipment contracted for but not provided Y88 & AN B X%
in the consolidated financial statements
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Hong Kong

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme for its employees
in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from
the MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represent contributions payable to the funds by the Group
at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

PRC

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of a state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the government of the PRC. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of the salaries of their employees to the state-managed
retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme.

During the vyear, the retirement benefit scheme

contributions amounted to approximately HK$12,654,000
(2017: HK$11,792,000).
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#HE—
26.

FNEF A+ AR
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The tax audits conducted by the IRD on the Company
and certain of its subsidiaries in respect of the years of
assessment 2004/2005 to 2012/2013 are still on-going.

The IRD had previously issued estimated/additional
assessments to the Company and certain subsidiaries
of the Company in June 2006, October 2006, March
2011, March 2012, March 2013, March 2014, September
2014, March 2015, December 2015 and March 2017
amounting to HK$60,471,000 in aggregate. The Group had
lodged valid objections with the IRD against the relevant
estimated/additional assessments.

Subsequent to the lodgement of the objections of the
Group, tax payment of HK$1,993,000 was made during
the year ended 31st December, 2006. Also, banker’s
undertakings of HK$3,828,000 were arranged by the
Group and had been accepted by the IRD as security
for the payment of the above-mentioned tax. Further,
tax reserve certificates of HK$7,211,000 in aggregate
in respect of 2005/2006 and 2007/2008 to 2010/2011,
pending the outcome of the tax audits and the objections,
were purchased in December 2006, June 2014,
November 2014, June 2015, March 2016 and May 2017.

As for the other assessments, the directors of the
Company are of the view that the Group is more likely
than not to successfully argue that the income of these
subsidiaries was not sourced in Hong Kong and also these
subsidiaries were not carrying on business in Hong Kong,
hence, it is not probable for the Group to be required
eventually to settle the taxes demanded under those
assessments.

The IRD further issued estimated/additional assessments
to the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company
in January, 2018 in respect of year of assessment
2011/2012 demanding for tax in dispute of HK$12,174,000
in aggregate, including an aggregate of HK$8,874,000
in three assessments issued with the same amount of
assessable profit to the subsidiaries, in the opinion of the
directors, pending for ascertaining of which of them should
be taxed (if any). The Group had lodged objections with
the IRD against these estimated/additional assessments in
February, 2018. Further, tax certificate of HK$2,970,000
in respect of 2011/2012, pending the outcome of the tax
audits and the objections was purchased in March 2018.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

The IRD further issued estimated/additional assessments
to the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company
in January, 2019 in respect of year of assessment
2012/2013 demanding for tax in dispute of HK$4,260,000
in aggregate, including an aggregate of HK$2,940,000
in three assessments issued with the same amount of
assessable profit to the subsidiaries, in the opinion of the
directors, pending for ascertaining of which of them should
be taxed (if any). The Group had lodged objections with
the IRD against these estimated/additional assessments
in February, 2019.

The directors consider that whilst the tax audits are still
on-going, the IRD has issued the protective assessments
for the years of assessment from 2004/2005 to
2012/2013 to the Group in order not to jeopardise the
assessment powers of the IRD which will be time-barred
after 6 years of assessment. The directors believe the
Group is more likely than not to successfully pursue the
offshore claims and their tax filing position, therefore it
is not probable for the Group to be required eventually
to settle the potential tax liabilities. Accordingly, the
directors consider that no additional provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax in respect of the tax audits for the years
of assessment 2004/2005 to 2012/2013 is necessary as
at 31st December, 2018. However, the ultimate outcome
of the tax audits is uncertain and the potential tax liability
cannot be ascertained with certainty at the present stage.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The remuneration of directors, who are the key
management of the Group, during the year are disclosed in
note 10. The remuneration of executive directors, who are
also the key executives of the Group, is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance
of individuals and market trends.
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#=E
28.

—E A AUEE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 28.

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities

arising from financing activities,

including both cash

and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

MEETDHZREEHER

TRANAKERE T AEE
CRERBELCABEIER

& NIEREE

CBER

RenERARARENAEEEERESRN
EXRPHOBERBRETHREREZAR -

Unsecured
Dividend bank Interest
payable borrowings payable Total
EARE BERRTEE EARE wet
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET THT THET
(note 19)
(M 5%19)
At 1st January, 2017 RZZE—+F—HA—H — 286,506 309 286,815
Financing cash flows (note) &% 3R & i & (Fif i) (35,859) (130,569) (2,096) (168,524)
Dividends declared EEIRRE 35,859 — — 35,859
Interest accrued JFEETFI S — — 2,096 2,096
At 31st December, 2017 R-ZE—+£F
+=-A=+—H — 155,937 309 156,246
Financing cash flows (note) E&EHR &R 2 (M) (63,746) 59,856 (4,832) (8,722)
Dividends declared EEIRRE 63,746 — — 63,746
Interest accrued FEE FI 8 — — 4,832 4,832
Foreign exchange translation ¥ [ # & — 5,262 — 5,262
At 31st December, 2018 RZE-NF
+-A=+-"H — 221,055 309 221,364
Note: The cash flows represent the proceeds used for dividends e ReREEGeReRERPRAEINEKE

payment, addition/repayment of bank loans, interest paid

in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

136

BVFRIR R EERITERKENFE



29.

30.

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 FE#H&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2018

BEr—F—\F+ZA=+—HIFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. EXERER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in AERAEEETSEEIEEFRELE K
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern SEHEEARAETER UHEBFEBERAE
while maximising the return to shareholders through the ERRETFEMARENSRZARLR - XEEH
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's MEEREATFREEFIE -
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which REBMNEARBREEB(EFREWE9
includes the unsecured bank borrowings disclosed in note i EEBIRBRTEE)URAARIEEA
19 and equity attributable to owners of the Company, EEEDS(BEEEITRARERB) -
comprising issued share capital and reserves.
The directors of the Company review the capital structure ARRESTHRIEARLEE - EABRFIMN—
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors o ARREZEEBEEESHNALTBEER
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the MEBERR - REAQRGEENESR  A5EH
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on BEBRMIRE - BITH - BRI G &3
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the THFERENERRAEEERE EAFTEHEEER
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the B -
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. €T H
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) &@WMIAEZER
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FAT
Financial assets B HEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REEXNTFEZ
B EE 395,516 —
Loans and receivables (including cash & 3k K JE g 37 18 (B2 4%
and cash equivalents) RekBE£EE) = 515,182
Financial liabilities HEEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BHEKAFTEZ
MBam 422,870 357,046
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

30.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, deposits, bank balances
and cash, trade, bills and other payables and
unsecured bank borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (foreign currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The directors of the Company manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets and
monetary liabilities

A significant portion of the Group’s sales is
denominated in RMB and significant portion of the
Group's purchases is denominated in RMB and USS$.
The Group’s manufacturing operations are located in
the PRC.

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk. Certain bank
balances, trade receivables, trade, bills and other
payables and unsecured bank borrowings are
denominated in the foreign currencies of the
relevant group entities. The Group currently does not
have a foreign exchange hedging policy. However,
the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging foreign
exposure should the need arises.
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BE —F—N\F+-HA=1—HIFFEF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. €®WMITA(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BBEREEEERKE(E)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) mEE (&)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SN SR B (4B
Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets and EPTHEIE e EER G AaE(F)
monetary liabilities (continued)
At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of the R{ER  AREEBUEHEERERZREY
Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities eI B AN Y EENE
denominated in currencies other than the respective MEEEBmENT
functional currencies of the relevant group entities
are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
=i
2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET TET FET
RMB AR 9,268 3,510 - —
HK$ T 3,677 9,637 83,000 45,187
UsS$ e 6,935 20,335 40,305 8,743
MOP SR P 234 250 - —
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis SN B RK S S AT

The following table details the Group's sensitivity
to a 5% increase and decrease in the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities against
the relevant foreign currencies. Sensitivity rate of
5% represents the assessment of the directors
of the Company of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 5% change in
foreign currency rates.

The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact
relates to monetary assets or liabilities that are
denominated in RMB, HK$, US$ or MOP against the
functional currencies of relevant group entities, HK$
or RMB respectively.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets and
monetary liabilities (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued)

In relation to monetary assets, where the functional
currency of the relevant group entity strengthens
5% against the currency in which the assets are
denominated, there would be a decrease in post-tax
profit for the year. However, in relation to monetary
liabilities, where the functional currency of the
relevant group entity strengthens 5% against the
currency in which the liabilities are denominated,
there would be an increase in post-tax profit for the
year. A 5% weakening of the functional currency
would have an equal but opposite impact on the
post-tax profit for the year.

RMB Impact
ARMZY

2018
HK$'000
TER

2017
HK$'000
TARL

(Decrease) increase
in post-tax profit

HEHE
(R Em (387) (147)

US$ Impact

HK$000
TR

30. £RIE(E)

(b) MHEEBEEEERBEXE)

% m g ()
Sh B (4 )

AN BEREERELAE(H)

S8 SRS AT (AF)

REBEEMS  WEMSEER 28
ERREEMRMAEZERTHES
AFEEREMNBSERD - AT %HE
BaEms WHEBEEER 2R
BKRAaBEmRATEZEE T E% @ 8
FEREMNBESEM - ER¥RE
5%  AFERENEEXIBRHKEE
LENrA-Z

HK$ Impact
BRZsE
2018

HK$'000

TR

MOP Impact
ik a2
2018
HK$'000
TERL

EIA 7
2018

2017
HK$'000
TAL

2017
HK$'000
TARL

2017
HK$'000
TARL

1,393

(10)

(484) 3,312 1,489 (1)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings (see note
19 for details of these borrowings), bank balances
and deposits. The directors consider that the interest
rate risk on bank balances and deposits are minimal,
accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk section of
this note. The Group cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR
arising from the Group's borrowings denominated in
HKS.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivatives
instruments. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole vyear. Increase or decrease in a 50 basis
point represents the assessment of the directors of
the Company of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates. For the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings, if interest
rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit for the year would have decreased/
increased by HK$923,000 (2017: HK$651,000).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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BE_F

—NF+ZA=1—HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 (2017:
incurred cost model) on trade receivables individually
or based on a provision matrix. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks
with high credit ratings, the Group does not have
significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical
areas.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess
whether credit risk of other receivables and deposits
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
Based on the historical default rate, repayment
history and forecast of future condition on economy
and debtors, the directors considered the ECL for
other receivables and deposits are immaterial.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired,
the Group determines the ECL on these items by
using a provision matrix, grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to past default
experience and current past due status of debtors.

As part of the Group's credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors’ past due status to
assess the impairment for its customers because
these customers consist of a large number of
customers with common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay
all amounts due in accordance with the contractual
terms.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, no

additional impairment allowance was recognised for
trade receivables, based on the provision matrix.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group's operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. As at 31st December, 2018,
the Group has available undrawn borrowing
facilities of approximately HK$215,223,000 (2017:
HK$379,300,000). The Group monitors its current
and expected liquidity requirements regularly
and ensuring sufficient liquid cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from reputable
financial institutions to meet the Group's liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

The following table details the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing
to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. eRMIAE)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIREAREEEERKE(E)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) HEELERE(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables B E 2R EE X

Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective or less than 1-3 3 months undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate 1month  month(s) to1year 1-2year(s) 2-5years  cash flows amount

nE¥s  &EXY  -@AE =@A% KRS
ERNE  -EAR =EA -§ -FERF WMEREE  MEAE  REE
%o HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000
Té&x  fEr  TEx  TEr  TEn TEn  TER

2018 ZE-N\F
Trade, bills and other 25 FER
payables EHERTE = 201,815 - - - - 201815 201815
Unsecured bank horrowings B ER1TEE
— variable rate - %8 34 86,334 51,313 31,864 41,201 14,943 225,655 221,055
288,149 51,313 31,864 41,201 14,943 427,410 422,870
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective  or less than -3 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month monthis)  to 1year  1-2 yearls)  2-5 years cash flows amount
mery  BExg AR ZlAZ ARRE
ERNE AR =fiA -5 -EEWME WERLE REEE Raf
% HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
i i i i i i i
2017 ZE-tF
Trade, bills and other 85 F8R
payables HipEfE - 201,109 - - - - 201109 201,109
Unsecured bank horrowings  EHBRITEE
— variable rate - 38 21 48,091 73,076 18,401 11,088 6,721 167,377 155,937

249,200 73,076 18,401 11,088 6,721 368,486 367,046
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. eMITA(E)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 month”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at
31st December, 2018, the aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$43,000,000 (2017: HK$45,000,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the directors
do not believe that it is probable that the banks

(b)

BHRBEEEERBE(E)

mBEEmE(E)
REBEZ KRG AKX (E)

BERBEREERRZEBTERYE
AL E BB MPAME Bkl — @
ARIEBME RZE—NF+_A=+
— B ZERTERONEERTEAR
£ %8 /543,000,000 (=& — £ F:
45,000,000 7T ) © £8 & & 2 & & B 7% ik
& EBERERTETGITEETE
K BERZBIEEF -

will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment.

RERRDHESRAR BEEERETR
FBBERACAEERARERIRE
KEEHRRZAEBRTERNATR
EREBERETR

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the
management reviews the expected cash flow
information of the Group's bank loans with a
repayment on demand clause based on the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the agreement
as set out in the table below:

Weighted
average Total
effective Within undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year cash flows amount
oK F15 AR
BRA = —FR BeRBHEE AR 1 {2
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THERT THET
2018 —E2-N\E¥
Bank loans with a BERERERER
repayment on demand ZIBITER
clause 2.89 43,108 43,108 43,000
2017 —E—tf
Bank loans with a BEREREEGN
repayment on demand ZIBITER
clause 2.17 45,084 45,084 45,000

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

HWEBHMNERBERRZEHIRARD
BEZAMEME - BIA LR IEIT AR
BRBEIPHNETIEANSHEAFELERE -
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. £@MITAE(E)
(¢) Fair value () 2¥HE
The fair values of the Group's financial assets and AEEMBEERVBAEGEZATE
financial liabilities are determined in accordance DIRBERMBERSERESITOARTE
with generally accepted pricing models based BEAUEBET REAGAHBARBER
on discounted cash flow analysis with the most SEHEERBRMBLIAE -
significant inputs being the discount rate that
reflects the credit risk of counterparties.
The directors of the Company consider that the RRARESRBIERE W WK AN A
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial AL BEEERMGEEZR®T
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the BEHEQFEMRE -
consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values.
SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 31. XARMERRKRBE
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Non-current asset IRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries NN NS o 1,998,641 2,024,120
Current assets REBEE
Deposits and prepayments e RIEMR 8,646 5,643
Amounts due from subsidiaries Yl N ENEIE 38,399 259
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBR LIRS 11,235 4,372
58,280 10,274
Current liabilities nEBAE
Other payables and accrued charges Hiv etk E R EFIH 12,552 13,192
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 1) BT /&8 A B 3RIR 1,229,057 1,179,231
Taxation payable FE SR 7% 18 551 510
1,242,160 1,192,933
Net current liabilities mEBEFE (1,183,880) (1,182,659)
Net assets BEEFE 814,761 841,461
Capital and reserves BAEAREE
Share capital & 2 79,682 79,682
Reserves G 735,079 761,779
814,761 841,461
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31. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 31. AARMBERRAERBE(Z

=

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: B 3
Details of the movement of reserves in the Company’s are set ARRZHEBEELHFBFRINWOT
out below:
Share
Share options Retained
premium reserves profits Total
R %% E BRERE R & R H ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1st January, 2017 RZE—+&—H—H 481,258 — 271,116 752,374
Profit and total comprehensive % & #| /8 &
income for the year rHKERE — — 45,264 45,264
Dividends paid BREE — — (35,859) (35,859)
At 31st December, 2017 RZE—+E+-_A=1+—H 481,258 — 280,521 761,779
Profit and total comprehensive F E %8 &
income for the year rHEKERHE — — 34,654 34,654
Recognition of equity-settled 5 LA BR #E 45 & DA 19
share-based payments Tz EH — 2,392 — 2,392
Dividends paid B E — — (63,746) (63,746)
At 31st December, 2018 RZB-N\E+=ZA=+—H 481,258 2,392 251,429 735,079
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 32. X ENEBAREHR

R-E—N\E+=A=+—BR-F— &+
“AS+—AZIEMBAAHBENT:

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st
December, 2018 and 31st December, 2017 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation
or registration/

Issued and fully paid
share capital/

Proportion of nominal value
of issued capital/registered
capital and voting right

Name of subsidiary operations contributed capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR FFHE
EmRL BRTRBERE BRIRE FMES
MEARER EELH BaRK AREECEELS FEER
2018 2017
% %
Chun Yik (Macao Commercial Macau Ordinary shares 100 100 Manufacturing and trading
Offshore) Limited MOP100,000 of corrugated packaging
En(RPFIBFEERB)ARAR R 3% M8100,000R P9 % Bk zHERES
Fung Kong Shing Fung Paper Ware  Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding
Factory Limited HK$2
BEXEEREERADA B TER2B T REER
Gong Ming Hop Fung Paper Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of management
Ware Factory Limited HK$100 service
NPAALRBBERRR B i@ Ak100% T REEERE
Non-voting deferred shares
HK$3,000,000 (note)
BERERETR
3,000,000 7T (Fff &%)
Green Forest (QingXin) Paper PRC Contributed capital US$112,247,803 100 100 Manufacturing and trading
Industrial Limited * (equivalent to approximately of containerboard and
HK$764,494,899) corrugated packaging
RECEHBERRLA" F & H AR A112,247,803% T ERARRFEREZ
(F & R #764,494,8997% L) HERES
Hop Fung Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of management
HK$2 service
AYUBEMAERAR B L@k T REEERE
Hop Fung Group Company Limited  BVI/Hong Kong  Ordinary shares US$600 100 100 Investment holding
EBRZEE,/ LTWR600ET RERK
BE
Hop Fung International Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of accounting
Enterprise Limited HK$2 service
AERBREXARAR B TER2B T R GRS
Man Shung (Macao Commercial Macau Ordinary shares 100 100 Manufacturing and trading
Offshore) Limited MOP100,000 of corrugated packaging
BIRCRMBEEEERB) BRI B 38 12 100,0003R P5 ¥ REBEZRERES
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32. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 32. FEKEBARIER (&)

(continued)
Place of Proportion of nominal value
incorporation Issued and fully paid of issued capital/registered
or registration/ share capital/ capital and voting right
Name of subsidiary operations contributed capital held by the Company Principal activities
NS
MR BRTREBRERE/ BRITKRA EMEX
il N =E 3 BHRA RREECHEHELS FEXK
2018 2017
% %
Top Develop Limited BVI Ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding and
US$1 trading of containerboard
HEERRA RERLES T®mBRIET REERRBRAES
REERBmBRRA* PRC Contributed capital HK$23,000,000 100 100 Manufacturing and trading
of corrugated packaging
Fr & #k #23,000,00078 7T AEBEzHERES
ABEEARIARDR* PRC Contributed capital HK$25,000,000 100 100 Manufacturing and trading
of corrugated packaging
S E 4 ik 425,000,000 7T ABEBEZHERES

Note: The non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by
the Group, practically carry no right to dividends or to
receive notice of or to attend or vote at any annual general
meeting of the Company. On winding up, the holders of
the deferred shares are entitled to the distribution after
the distribution of HK$100,000,000 million to holders of
ordinary shares, as specified in the articles of association.

* Green Forest (QingXin) Paper Industrial Limited, B Z2# &
BmBARAR and 22MB ORI BER AT are wholly
foreign owned enterprises.

Other than Hop Fung Group Company Limited, all
subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at 31st December, 2018 and 31st December, 2017 or at
any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of directors of the Company, principally
affected the results and assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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* REEIAEERRR RZEELRE
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 32. T EKBATER (£)
(continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other R|EAR ARAEEHASEEME TEE
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. These AZHMWBRAR - ZEHBARIRES - 1
subsidiaries are operated in Hong Kong, BVI or PRC. The BEZEBKATHEE ZEWNBARZEE
principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised ¥BWMENT:
as follows:
Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
FTEEK FTEEEME MELAREAE
2017
Investment holding BVI 1 1
wEER RBRZHES
Inactive BVI 1 1
HE EBERES
Hong Kong 2 2
55
PRC 1 _
A
4 3
5 4
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Year ended 31st December,
BE+-A=+—-HLEFE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FAET FAET FTERT

RESULTS E
Revenue U 2= 1,097,102 1,066,541 1,179,444 1,523,210 1,423,860
Cost of sales Fiz K-S (913,496)  (853,879) (911,748)  (1,117,744) = (1,223,626)
Gross profit ESll 183,606 212,662 267,696 405,466 200,234
Other income H Uk A 15,888 13,319 14,710 12,637 21,191
Selling and distribution costs & & % #5 A A (63,522) (61,400) (67,590) (67,123) (51,176)
Administrative expenses THAX (75,178) (88,619) (97,243) (149,824) (92,471)
Other expenses Hib X2 (24,707) (23,170) (24,571) (27,493) (31,228)
Finance costs B 155 A R (21,499) (10,698) (5,045) (2,096) (4,832)
Changes in fair value MESBMIAATE

of derivative financial 22 E

instruments 147 323 — — =
Gain on disposal of a HEMBAT Uk

subsidiary 378,802 — — — =
Profit before taxation 5 A1 A1) 393,537 42,417 87,957 171,667 41,718
Income tax expense Fir 15 %% B 2 (4,365) (6,129) (11,570) (33,857) (11,246)
Profit for the year, attributable &KX Q 7 # B A FE15

to owners of the Company 4 € 7 ;H 389,172 36,288 76,387 137,710 30,472

At 31st December,
R+=—A=+—H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TETT TETT TETT FEx

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥EREE

Total assets BMEE 2,335,806 1,943,015 2,089,280 2,113,096 | 2,089,377
Total liabilities waE (801,357) (462,677) (632,5635) (474,783) (539,155)

Total equity attributable to AR A HEAE A EAG
owners of the Company = A E 1,634,449 1,480,338 1,456,745 1,638,313 = 1,550,222
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